# HIV persistence in mucosal T cells within the lungs of adults under long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy

Syim Salahuddin Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University, Montreal

April 2018

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Syim Salahuddin, 2018

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
ABSTRACT
RÉSUMÉ6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES
INTRODUCTION
PREFACE
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW 14
1.1 HIV & AIDS
1.1.1 Discovery of HIV15
1.1.2 Epidemiology of HIV15
1.1.3 Life cycle of HIV-1
1.1.4 Pathogenesis of HIV 20
1.1.5 Antiretroviral therapy (ART)21
1.2 VIRAL LATENCY AND HIV RESERVOIRS
1.2.1 Establishment and maintenance of viral latency23
1.2.2 Cellular reservoirs of HIV 24
1.2.3 Anatomical reservoirs of HIV 24
1.3 T CELL SUBSETS AS POTENTIAL CELLULAR RESERVOIRS OF HIV
1.3.1 Review of T cell development
1.3.2 Phenotypic and functional characteristics of memory CD4 T cells
1.3.3 Memory CD4 T cells during HIV infection
1.3.4 Persistence of HIV in effector memory and memory CCR6 $^+$ CD4 T cells
1.3.5 Origins of double negative T cells
1.3.6 DN T cells during HIV infection
1.3.7 Persistence of HIV in DN T cells
1.3.8 CD32a: a recently discovered and controversial cellular marker of HIV latency 36
1.4 T CELL DYSFUNCTIONS DURING HIV INFECTION

1.4.1 T cell immune activation	. 37
1.4.2 T cell immune senescence and T cell immune exhaustion	. 38
1.5 THE LUNGS AS ANATOMICAL RESERVOIRS OF HIV	. 39
1.5.1 Pulmonary immunity	. 39
1.5.1.1 Innate immunity within the lungs	. 39
1.5.1.2 Adaptive immunity within the lungs	. 40
1.5.2 Pulmonary mucosal immunity during HIV/SIV infection	. 41
1.5.3 Effects of pulmonary HIV co-infections on pulmonary mucosal immunity	. 44
1.5.4 The lungs as anatomical HIV reservoirs in the ART era	. 45
CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY	. 48
2.1 Study population and specimen collection	. 49
2.2 Ethical considerations	. 49
2.3 Sample processing	. 50
2.4 Cell sorting	. 50
2.5 HIV DNA and RNA quantifications	. 51
2.6 Phenotypic characterization of T cell subsets	. 51
2.7 Statistical analyses	. 52
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH FINDINGS	. 53
3.1 Characteristics of study population	. 54
3.2 HIV persistence in the lungs of ART-treated HIV-infected individuals	. 56
3.3 Differentiation phenotype of pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells compared to blood	. 58
3.4 Immune activation and immune senescence of CD4 T cells	. 60
3.5 Distribution of memory CCR6 <sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell subsets	. 62
3.6 Frequencies of CD39 <sup>+</sup> regulatory CD4 T cells	. 64
3.7 Phenotypic characterization of double negative T cells	. 65
3.8 Expression of CD32a on pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells of ART-treated adults	. 67
3.9 Differentiation phenotype of pulmonary mucosal CD8 T cells compared to blood	. 69
3.10 Immune activation, immune exhaustion and functional phenotype of CD8 T cells	. 70
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	. 72
CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY	. 80
REFERENCES	. 81

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Cellular and anatomical reservoirs of HIV remain the primary challenge towards viral eradication. The lungs are important but relatively understudied anatomical reservoirs in the era of antiretroviral therapy (ART). Effector memory, memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> and CD32a<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells, as well as double negative CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells have been described as potential cellular reservoirs of HIV in the peripheral blood. We hypothesized that a higher HIV reservoir burden within the lungs *vs* the peripheral blood during long-term ART is due to a disrupted T cell immunity. Thus, we assessed the frequencies, distributions and phenotypic characteristics of pulmonary mucosal cellular subsets in both HIV-infected adults under long-term suppressive ART as well as healthy individuals.

**Methods:** Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and bronchial mucosal biopsies, obtained by bronchoscopy, and matched peripheral blood samples were collected from 24 HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals without respiratory symptoms and under long-term suppressive ART (undetectable plasma viral load and CD4 count >350 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> for ≥3 years) and from 8 HIV<sup>-</sup> individuals without respiratory symptoms. T cell subsets were characterized by flow cytometry, and HIV DNA and RNA were assessed by PCR.

**Results:** A greater frequency of HIV DNA was observed in BAL cells compared to peripheral blood mononuclear cells and biopsies in ART-treated individuals. Importantly, HIV RNA was detected in BAL cells, and highly pure sorted BAL CD4 T cells harbored higher levels of HIV DNA than peripheral CD4 T cells and alveolar macrophages. Both study groups experienced a decrease in naïve CD4 T cells and an increase in effector memory CD4 T cells, the most well-recognized cellular reservoir of HIV, in the lungs compared to blood. Pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells were found to be more activated and senescent, with an enrichment in CD39<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells that inhibit anti-HIV specific responses. CD4 T cells expressing the Fc receptor CD32a, a recently proposed marker of CD4 T cells harboring replication-competent virus, were highly enriched in the pulmonary compartment of ART-treated adults *vs* blood, with greater activation levels and permissiveness to HIV. Furthermore, higher frequencies of memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell subsets described as HIV reservoirs were found within the lungs *vs* blood of both HIV<sup>+</sup> and HIV<sup>-</sup> individuals. Moreover, a substantial increase in both CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8α<sup>-</sup>CD8β<sup>-</sup> and CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>TCRαβ<sup>-</sup>TCRγδ<sup>-</sup> double negative T cells was observed in the lungs *vs* blood of HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals. These double negative T cells were characterized by higher levels of immune activation, lower levels of immune senescence and lower expression of the marker of recent thymus emigrants. Finally, a decrease in naïve CD8 T cells and an increase in effector memory CD8 T cells were observed among BAL cells compared to their circulating counterparts in both study groups. CD8 T cells were more activated and the CD73-expressing HIV-specific subset was found in lower frequency in the lungs compared to blood. Interestingly, in ART-treated participants, CD8 T cells were more exhausted and expressed less perforin and granzyme B.

**Conclusion:** In virally suppressed HIV<sup>+</sup> adults, the lungs contain higher levels of HIV DNA, specifically in CD4 T cells, and higher frequencies of various T cell subsets known as preferential HIV reservoirs, including effector memory, memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> and CD32a<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells as well as activated double negative T cells when compared to peripheral blood. Furthermore, pulmonary CD8 T cells were found to be more exhausted and dysfunctional despite greater effector phenotype compared to peripheral CD8 T cells. In healthy adults, certain CD4 T cell HIV reservoirs exist in higher proportion compared to blood, while anti-HIV specific CD8 T cells were reduced in the lungs. The particular distribution and immune properties of mucosal T cells could contribute to the preferential persistence of HIV reservoirs in the lungs despite ART. The characterization of HIV reservoirs will allow us to develop tissue-targeted therapeutic strategies that may enable viral eradication in people living with HIV.

5

#### <u>RÉSUMÉ</u>

**Contexte :** Les réservoirs cellulaires et anatomiques de VIH demeurent le défi majeur vers l'éradication virale. Les poumons sont des réservoirs anatomiques importants mais relativement peu étudiés dans l'ère du traitement par antirétroviraux (ARV). Les cellules T CD4 effectrices mémoires, mémoires CCR6<sup>+</sup> et CD32a<sup>+</sup>, ainsi que les cellules T CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> double négatives ont été décrites comme étant des réservoirs potentiels de VIH dans le sang périphérique. Nous avons émis l'hypothèse qu'un fardeau plus élevé du réservoir de VIH dans les poumons *vs* le sang périphérique durant le traitement par ARV à long-terme est due à une immunité perturbée des cellules T. Par conséquent, nous avons évalué les fréquences, distributions et caractéristiques phénotypiques des sous-ensembles de cellules muqueuses pulmonaires chez des adultes infectés par le VIH et sous traitement suppressif par ARV à long-terme ainsi que chez des individus sains.

Méthodes : Du fluide de lavage bronchoalvéolaire (LBA) et des biopsies muqueuses pulmonaires, obtenus par bronchoscopie, et des échantillons de sang périphérique appariés ont été recueillis chez 24 individus VIH<sup>+</sup> sans symptômes respiratoires et sous traitement suppressif par ARV à long-terme (charge virale plasmatique indétectable et nombre de CD4 >350 cellules/mm<sup>3</sup> pour ≥3 ans) et chez 8 individus VIH<sup>-</sup> sans symptômes respiratoires. Les sous-ensembles de cellules T ont été caractérisés par cytométrie en flux, et l'ADN and l'ARN viraux ont été quantifiés par PCR.

**Résultats** : Une plus grande fréquence d'ADN de VIH a été observée dans les cellules du LBA comparées aux cellules mononuclées du sang périphérique et aux biopsies. Surtout, l'ARN virale a été détectée dans les cellules du LBA, et les cellules triées T CD4 du LBA abritaient des niveaux plus élevés d'ADN de VIH que les cellules T CD4 périphériques et les macrophages alvéolaires. Les deux groupes d'étude ont subi une réduction de cellules T CD4 naïves et une augmentation de cellules T CD4 effectrices mémoires, le réservoir cellulaire de VIH le mieux reconnu, dans les poumons comparés au sang. Les cellules T CD4 muqueuses pulmonaires sont plus activées et sénescentes, avec un enrichissement des cellules T régulatrices CD39<sup>+</sup> qui inhibent les réponses spécifiques anti-VIH. Les cellules T CD4 exprimant le récepteur Fc CD32a, un marqueur proposé récemment de cellules T CD4 abritant du virus compétent pour la réplication, étaient hautement

enrichies dans le compartiment pulmonaire chez les adultes traités aux ARV *vs* le sang, avec une plus grande activation et permissivité au VIH. De plus, une fréquence plus élevée de sousensembles de cellules mémoires CCR6<sup>+</sup> T CD4 décrites comme réservoirs cellulaires de VIH a été trouvée dans les poumons *vs* le sang chez les individus VIH<sup>+</sup> et VIH<sup>-</sup>. Par ailleurs, une hausse substantielle de cellules T double négatives CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8 $\alpha$ <sup>-</sup>CD8 $\beta$ <sup>-</sup> et CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta$ <sup>-</sup>TCR $\gamma\delta$ <sup>-</sup> a été observée dans les poumons *vs* le sang chez les individus VIH<sup>+</sup>. Ces cellules T double négatives sont caractérisées par des niveaux plus élevés d'activation immunitaire, des niveaux moins élevés de sénescence immunitaire et une expression inférieure du marqueur d'émigrants récents du thymus. Finalement, une réduction de cellules T CD8 naïves et une augmentation de cellules T CD8 effectrices mémoires ont été observées parmi les cellules T CD8 étaient plus activées et le sous-ensemble VIH-spécifique exprimant CD73 a été trouvé en fréquence moins élevé dans les poumons comparés au sang. Intéressement, chez les participants traités aux ARV, les cellules T CD8 sont plus épuisées et exprimaient moins de perforine et de granzyme B.

**Conclusion** : Chez les adultes VIH<sup>+</sup> avec une charge virale supprimée, les poumons contiennent des niveaux plus élevés d'ADN de VIH, spécifiquement dans les cellules T CD4, et des fréquences plus élevées de plusieurs sous-ensembles de cellules T connus comme réservoirs préférentiels de VIH, y compris les cellules T CD4 effectrices mémoires, mémoires CCR6<sup>+</sup> et CD32a<sup>+</sup> ainsi que les cellules activées T double négatives, en comparaison au sang périphérique. De plus, les cellules T CD8 pulmonaires étaient plus épuisées et dysfonctionnelles malgré un phénotype effecteur plus prononcé comparé au cellules T CD8 périphériques. Chez les adultes sains, certains réservoirs cellulaires T CD4 existent en plus grande proportions dans les poumons comparés au sang, tandis que les cellules T CD8 spécifiquement anti-VIH étaient diminuées dans les pournaient contribuer à la persistance préférentielle de réservoirs de VIH dans les poumons malgré le traitement par ARV. La caractérisation des réservoirs de VIH nous permettra de développer des stratégies thérapeutiques ciblant les tissues qui pourraient permettre l'éradication virale chez les personnes vivant avec le VIH.

7

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my supervisors Dr. Cecilia T. Costiniuk and Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian for their amazing mentorship throughout my academic journey as a Master's student. Thank you for allowing me to pursue my scientific interests through both laboratory and clinical exposures in the field of HIV/AIDS; for always supporting me in my scholarly and extracurricular endeavors whether they were directly related to my Master's project or not; for encouraging me to attend and present at various conferences which helped me immerse myself in the HIV/AIDS research community and build lasting bridges with others in the field; and most of all, for providing me with a challenging and intellectually stimulating research project and environment that helped me grow as a new scientist and acquire invaluable experience for my future career.

Furthermore, I would like to thank all the members of the lab for their continued help and friendship, and especially Dr. Omar Farnós for being my close partner in this project and for always being there whenever I needed help with my lab work. I want to thank my committee members, Dr. Nicole Bernard, Dr. Erwin Schurr and Dr. Petronela Ancuta for providing me with valuable insight, ideas and criticism on how to improve my project and be a successful Master's student. I would also like to thank all of our collaborators in this project for their treasured input, especially Dr. Nicolas Chomont and Amélie Pagliuzza who greatly contributed to the experimental and data interpretation portion of the project.

Finally, I would like to thank my amazing parents, my mother Sahnaj Mitu Salahuddin and my father Salah Uddin Murad. I am forever grateful to them for instilling in me since an early age the intellectual curiosity and passion that has formed the foundation of my scientific aspirations, for giving me the freedom to pursue my scholarly interests while guiding me on the path to academic success, and for always standing by me during the challenging parts of my education and life. Everything I have achieved thus far and everything I am today is because of the hardships they endured to give me a comfortable life, the sacrifices they made to provide me with an excellent education, and the dreams they forewent so that I could fulfill mine. I love you, mom and dad!

8

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADN (French): Acide désoxyribonucléique IQR: Interguartile range AIDS: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome LAG: Lymphocyte-activating gene AMP: Adenosine monophosphate LBA (French): Lavage bronchoalvéolaire ARN (French): Acide ribonucléique MHC: Major histocompatibility complex ART: Antiretroviral therapy MUHC: McGill University Health Centre NF-KB: Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-ARV (French): Antirétroviral enhancer of activated B cells ATP: Adenosine triphosphate PAMP: Pathogen-associated molecular BAL: Bronchoalveolar lavage CD: Cluster of differentiation pattern CHUM: Centre hospitalier de l'Université de PBMC: Peripheral blood mononuclear cells Montréal PCR: Polymerase chain reaction PD: Programmed death CM: Central memory RNA: Ribonucleic acid COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease **RTE:** Recent thymic emigrants CROI: Conference on Retroviruses and RT-PCR: Real-time polymerase chain reaction **Opportunistic Infections** SIV: Simian immunodeficiency syndrome SHIV: Simian-human immunodeficiency DN: Double negative DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid syndrome SP: Single positive **DP:** Double positive EM: Effector memory **TB:** Tuberculosis ER: Endoplasmic reticulum TCR: T cell receptor ERAD: Endoplasmic reticulum-associated **TD: Terminally differentiated** degradation TGF: Transforming growth factor HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus Th: T helper IFN: Interferon TNF: Tumor necrosis factor IL: Interleukin Tregs: Regulatory T cells FACS: Fluorescence-associated cell sorting

# LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Permissions and licenses were obtained for figures and tables not produced by the student. Sources are referenced in the figure and table legends. References contain information on the reproduction authorizations granted by the copyright holders.

Figure 1: Regional and global prevalence of HIV among people aged 15 to 49 in 2016.

Figure 2: Full-length HIV-1 genome and proteins encoded by the genes in the viral genome.

Figure 3: Steps in the early and late phase of the life cycle of HIV-1, with associated mechanisms of action of antiretroviral drugs.

Figure 4: Pathogenic history of untreated HIV-infected patients as they go through the acute, chronic and AIDS phases of HIV infection.

Figure 5: Immune abnormalities within the lungs during untreated HIV infection.

Figure 6: Isolation of pulmonary mucosal cells and PBMCs, and subsequent usage.

Figure 7: Quantification of total HIV DNA and cell-associated HIV RNA.

Figure 8: Differentiation phenotype of CD4 T cells in ART-treated HIV-infected participants and healthy participants.

Figure 9: Immune activation and immune senescence of CD4 T cells.

Figure 10: Distribution of memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell subsets.

Figure 11: Enrichment in CD39<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells in the lungs of ART-treated HIV-infected adults.

Figure 12: Distribution and phenotypic characterization of DN T-cells in the lungs compared to peripheral blood.

Figure 13: Frequency and characterization of CD4 T cells expressing CD32a.

Figure 14: Differentiation phenotype of CD8 T cells in ART-treated HIV-infected participants and healthy participants.

Figure 15: Functional phenotype of CD8 T cells.

Table 1: Phenotypic markers identifying T cell subsets.

Table 2: Demographic, clinical and lifestyle parameters of both study groups.

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Rationale

Reservoirs of HIV are the primary reason why HIV/AIDS remains an incurable disease today despite the success of antiretroviral therapy (ART). A reservoir may either be cellular or anatomical. Memory CD4 T cells are the best characterized cellular reservoirs as HIV can remain latent within the genome of the host cell in the form of proviral DNA (1). From an anatomical perspective, most attention has been dedicated to the central nervous system, the testicular tissue and the gut-associated lymphoid tissue. In contrast, despite being an immunological effector site, the lungs have received relatively little attention in the era of ART despite intense efforts aimed at understanding HIV reservoirs. The lungs exhibit key characteristics that make them ideal sites for HIV latency and persistence (2). Millions of alveoli are present in the lungs which create a very large surface area. Additionally, the close proximity of alveolar macrophages and pulmonary mucosal T cells, in which HIV is readily detectable in infected individuals, provide multiple occasions for cell-to-cell transfer of HIV. The genetic variants of HIV present in the lungs differ from those found in peripheral blood which suggests a certain degree of compartmentalization of the virus within the pulmonary site. Antiretroviral drugs penetrate the lungs with differential efficiency based on lipid solubility. Finally, in vitro studies demonstrated that co-infections and tobacco usage induces greater viral replication, which allows for the seeding of latent provirus and the development of viral escape mutations. HIV persistence is one of the main causes of chronic systemic inflammation and immune activation even following successful ART for over a decade. HIV-infected individuals display various pulmonary immune perturbations, including imbalances in the frequencies of various immune cells and their dysfunction, which contribute to greater production of various pro-inflammatory cytokines within the lungs (2). Furthermore, as HIV-infected individuals are living longer thanks to ART, there has been an emergence of many diseases associated with aging, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (3), the third leading cause of death in North America. It is therefore of paramount importance to gain a comprehensive understanding of the immune milieu within the lungs in HIV-infected individuals in relationship to the intrapulmonary HIV

reservoir burden, as the interplay between pulmonary inflammation, imbalances in immune cell frequencies and the size of the lung HIV reservoir of individuals on ART has never been explored previously.

# Hypothesis

Higher HIV reservoir burden within the lungs *vs* the peripheral blood of HIV-infected adults under long-term suppressive ART is due to a disrupted T cell pulmonary mucosal immunity.

# Main objectives

(1) To evaluate the levels of HIV persistence in pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells compared to alveolar macrophages and peripheral CD4 T cells under long-term suppressive ART.

(2) To characterise pulmonary mucosal CD4, CD8 and double negative T cell subsets in HIVinfected adults receiving long-term suppressive ART and in healthy individuals.

# PREFACE

This thesis conforms to the McGill University Graduate and Post-Doctoral Studies' guidelines for thesis preparation.

Author contribution for Chapter 1 Literature Review:

The chapter was written by Syim Salahuddin, with suggestions from Dr. Cecilia T. Costiniuk and Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian.

Author contribution for Chapter 2 Methodology:

The methodologies presented were designed by Syim Salahuddin, Dr. Cecilia Costiniuk, Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian and Dr. Nicolas Chomont.

Author contribution for Chapter 3 Research Findings:

The experiments were conducted by Syim Salahuddin, Dr. Omar Farnos and Amélie Pagliuzza. Analyses and interpretation of the data were performed by Syim Salahuddin, Dr. Cecilia Costiniuk, Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian and Dr. Nicolas Chomont.

Author contribution for Chapter 4 Discussion:

The chapter was written by Syim Salahuddin, with suggestions from Dr. Cecilia T. Costiniuk and Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian.

# **CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW**

**Author contribution:** The following chapter was written by Syim Salahuddin, with suggestions from Dr. Cecilia T. Costiniuk and Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian.

#### **1.1 HIV & AIDS**

#### 1.1.1 Discovery of HIV

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a retrovirus that progressively causes the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) in humans if left untreated. The virus first emerged in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century through zoonotic simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection of humans living in Western and Central Africa (4). HIV-1 group M, which represents a specific transmission event and is the origin of the current worldwide HIV/AIDS pandemic, arose from chimpanzees infected with SIV (5). Following the cross-species transmission, HIV-1 underwent genetic diversification into subtypes, while remaining confined to the sites of origin within Africa (6). The worldwide spread of HIV-1 group M subsequently occurred in the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, resulting in a genetically and recombinantly diverse geographic distribution of the pandemic group (7). The diversity of HIV-1 has significant clinical implications as the subtypes display differing transmission rates (8), disease progression (9), diagnostic implications and viral load set points (10), viral load suppression rates during antiretroviral therapy (ART) (11) and development of drug resistance mutations (12). The clinical features associated with the immunodeficient patterns of HIV/AIDS were first identified in 1981 (13) and HIV itself was subsequently isolated in 1983 (14) by the 2008 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine laureates Françoise Barré-Sinoussi and Luc Montagnier in their lab at Institut Pasteur, Paris, France. Based on the patterns of immune compromise previously healthy individuals were displaying postinfection, it became clear that HIV induced a cellular abnormality in immune function (15).

#### 1.1.2 Epidemiology of HIV

Since its identification, HIV has been one of the largest public health concerns in history, with over 76 million infections and 35 million deaths. By the end of 2016, 36.7 million people were living with HIV worldwide, with almost 2 million new infections and 1 million AIDS-related deaths that year (16). In 2015, HIV/AIDS was the fifth leading cause of death in low-income

economies (17), which along with middle-income nations contain the vast majority of individuals living with the virus in the world. The most affected region in the world is sub-Saharan Africa (Figure 1).





In Canada, there were an estimated 65,040 HIV-infected persons by the end of 2014. Of that number, 20% of these individuals remained undiagnosed and 24% of those diagnosed were still not on ART (19) despite living in a high-income country. The primary attributable risk factor of HIV acquisition was being a man having sex with another man, followed by injection drug use and heterosexual sex, though this distribution varies from region to region (20). Although now rare in Canada, HIV may also be transmitted transplacentally from mother to child or through infected blood. Together, these epidemiological data corroborate the global effort already invested and still needed in HIV/AIDS research, education and prevention.

# 1.1.3 Life cycle of HIV-1

The HIV-1 virion carries its full-length genome in the form of a single-stranded RNA that contains genes encoding a total of 16 proteins needed in the replication cycle of the virus. These

proteins include structural proteins encoded by *gag*, enzymatic proteins encoded by *pol*, envelope proteins encoded by *env*, regulatory proteins encoded by *tat* and *rev*, and accessory proteins encoded by *vif*, *vpu*, *vpr* and *nef* (Figure 2) (21).



Figure 2: Full-length HIV-1 genome (top) and proteins encoded by the genes in the viral genome (bottom). Adapted from (21).

The replication cycle of HIV-1 can be dichotomized into two phases: the early phase, wherein the virus enters the target cell and integrates its DNA within the host genome inside the nucleus, and the late phase, which comprises the expression of integrated viral DNA and subsequent release of new viral entities by the infected cells. The early phase begins with HIV-1 attaching itself to a host cell through specific or nonspecific interactions mediated by either its envelope protein, Env, or the host cell's membrane proteins (22). Following adhesion, Env binds with the cluster of differentiation (CD) 4, a glycoprotein that constitutes its primary receptor, and with co-receptors that bolster Env to fuse with the host membrane. There are two such co-

receptors, the chemokine receptor CCR5 and the chemokine receptor CXCR4, which may be used alone or together depending on the phenotype of the infecting viral strain (23). Following localization of the virion to a site for optimal fusion, a process aided by the host cell's machinery, the virus fuses with the plasma membrane and enters the cytoplasm (22). Shortly after the content of the virion is spilt in the cytosol, reverse transcription occurs. Indeed, the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase, a product of the GagPol polyprotein, converts the single-stranded RNA found inside the virion into a double-stranded DNA substrate used later in integration (24). Once DNA synthesis is completed in the reverse transcription complex, the latter becomes a pre-integration complex which migrates into the nucleus (24). This nucleoprotein complex contains an integrase, another viral protein originating from GagPol and released by the virion along with reverse transcriptase. The enzyme associates with the newly synthesized viral DNA and can insert the molecule at various sites within the host genome (25). This process can be aided by co-factor proteins already found within the host cell (26).

The late phase of the HIV-1 life cycle begins with the transcription of the integrated provirus mediated by the virally encoded Tat protein, its interactions with cellular co-factors, and epigenetic modifications (27). The resulting messenger RNA transcripts are then exported out of the nucleus by another viral protein, Rev, which binds to a stem-loop structure within the RNA molecule and transports it through nuclear pore complexes (28). Viral RNAs transcribed in the nucleus enter the cytosol and can achieve two goals. Indeed, some HIV-1 messenger RNAs are translated into viral proteins that participate as mediators or substrates in virus assembly and release (29), while others dimerize to be packaged into maturing virions (30). The first goal sees the expression of the Gag precursor protein that forms the viral particle and, at lower levels, of the GagPol precursor polyprotein that forms the enzymes utilized in the next life cycle of the virus, namely in integration, transcription and protein cleavage (31). Following mutational changes in Gag, it was suggested the matrix domain within the precursor protein may play a crucial role in the targeting of Gag to the plasma membrane (32). Similarly, reduction in the expression of phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate found at high levels on the intracellular side of the plasma membrane has also resulted in significantly depleted viral production, hinting at

the existence of cellular players in Gag recruitment (33). Upon localization to the plasma membrane, Gag interacts with specialized regions of the membrane called lipid rafts (34) that play a crucial role in HIV-1 replication (35), especially since virological synapses are notably enriched in these rafts (36). Thus, these lipid rafts may be used as sites for the formation of new virions. Two copies of viral RNA are packaged inside the virions along with protease, reverse transcriptase and integrase; these enzymes exist as domains of GagPol. Thus, after assembling itself with the two viral RNA copies and the GagPol precursor protein, Gag aligns itself radially to form a spherical lattice. The viral envelope protein Env, found at the lipid raft sites, joins the assemblage and the nascent viral particle is released by the host cell through membrane fission (37). Finally, proteolysis of Gag by the packaged elements, and ultimately completes the maturation of the new HIV-1 virus which can now infect its next cellular target (38). The steps of the HIV-1 life cycle are summarized in Figure 3. In addition to CD4 T cells, which constitute their primary cellular targets, HIV-1 virions have the ability to infect other cell types such as macrophages and monocytes (39), dendritic cells (40) and astrocytes (41).



Figure 3: Steps in the early and late phase of the life cycle of HIV-1, with associated mechanisms of action of antiretroviral drugs (42).

#### 1.1.4 Pathogenesis of HIV

Following infection, the virus quickly begins rounds of replication at the site of transmission. At the mucosal level for instance, the constant replenishment of memory CD4 T cells in the lamina propria allows the virus to replicate rapidly (43), subsequently propagating to draining lymph nodes and other lymphoid tissues. The gut-associated lymphoid tissue, which bears about 60% of the body's CD4 T cells, is especially affected by acute HIV infection as it experiences a dramatic loss of CD4 T cells (44) with only partial reconstitution during ART (45). The structural integrity of the gut mucosa is also affected, which allows for the translocation of microbial products from the gut to the peripheral circulation (46). Indeed, the levels of circulating lipopolysaccharide is increased and correlated with both innate and adaptive immune activation (46). HIV infection further perturbs the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, resulting in the elevation of plasma levels of various proinflammatory factors (47). During acute HIV infection, people often experience fever, enlarged lymph nodes, sore throat, myalgias, arthralgias, headaches and diarrhea, all collectively known as a retroviral syndrome and usually occurring within 2 to 4 weeks (48). Once the innate and adaptive immune responses are initiated, the viral load decreases while CD8 T cells begin to kill infected cells. However, HIV-specific CD8 T cells eventually get exhausted and subsequently dysfunctional (49), or immune escape by the virus occurs due to mutational changes (50). As patients move into the chronic, or asymptomatic, phase of infection, there is continued loss of CD4 T cells and accumulation of residual inflammation. Despite suppressive ART, immune abnormalities and chronic inflammation persist, and people living with HIV do not have an immunological profile equivalent to persons without HIV infection (51-53). The underlying immune perturbations and low-grade chronic inflammation contribute to AIDS-related co-morbidities (54). In the modern ART era, co-morbidities including cardiovascular disease, cancer, osteoporosis, neurocognitive disorders, thrombosis and pulmonary diseases are thought to be driven by HIV-induced chronic inflammation. Indeed, elevated levels of interleukin (IL)-6, C-reactive protein and soluble monocyte activation marker CD14 are predictors of increased mortality in people living with HIV (55-58). Some of the immune

changes and abnormalities occurring during the acute, chronic and AIDS phases of HIV infection are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Pathogenic history of untreated HIV-infected patients as they go through the acute, chronic and AIDS phases of HIV infection (42).

# 1.1.5 Antiretroviral therapy (ART)

Individuals living with HIV in the present era have a life expectancy close to that of HIVuninfected individuals thanks to ART (59, 60). Among those living with HIV in the world in June 2017, 20.9 million have access to ART, which is almost three times the number in 2010 (16). The increase in the prevalence of HIV may be explained by the increase in ART access: indeed, HIVinfected people are living longer after ART initiation (61). The underlying principle of ART is to target the different receptors, enzymes and viral proteins involved in the HIV life cycle in order to achieve a suppressed viral load. While early treatment strategies focused on opportunistic infections in the context of HIV/AIDS and disease management, the introduction of combination ART and the discovery of viral protein inhibitors greatly improved treatment efficacy. The idea of combining different antiviral drugs within an ART regimen was conceived to limit the emergence of drug resistance (62). Nevertheless, studies conducted in Western and Northern Europe has shown that newly developed drugs and efficacious regimens, coupled with excellent patient adherence, can reduce the emergence of drug resistance (63, 64).

Drugs that have been approved in the treatment of HIV/AIDS can be divided into six types. Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors act through viral DNA chain termination by preventing bond formation with incoming nucleoside triphosphates during DNA synthesis (65). Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, on the other hand, bind HIV-1 reverse transcriptase to induce a conformational change within the site of substrate binding, thus limiting enzymatic activity (66). Integrase inhibitors are molecules that target the strand transfer reaction that inserts HIV-1 DNA to the host genome (67). Protease inhibitors prevent the activity of the HIV-1 protease that cleaves Gag and Gag-Pol precursor proteins through mimetic mechanism or by preventing enzyme dimerization (68). Fusion inhibitors act by mimicking one of the two domains of the viral gp41 protein that interact with each other during viral fusion to the host cell, thus preventing the interactions required for virus entry (69). Finally, CCR5 antagonists work by binding to the transmembrane domains of the chemokine receptor to induce a conformational shift that goes unrecognized by the envelope of HIV-1 (70).

For an ART-naïve person infected with HIV, the ART regimen used during initiation consists of two nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors and a third drug from the three other inhibitor categories coupled with a pharmacokinetic booster (71). For most individuals, the viral load usually becomes undetectable within 12 to 24 weeks of treatment. Factors predictive of virological success include low baseline viremia and high potency ART regimen coupled with excellent adherence (71). Although modern ART is very effective and generally well-tolerated, it is not without its disadvantages. Indeed, it requires excellent adherence in order to be maximally beneficial (72). Furthermore, ART is very costly, which makes it difficult for all persons living with HIV to access it, especially in low-income regions such as sub-Saharan Africa where HIV is in epidemic proportions (73).

#### **1.2 VIRAL LATENCY AND HIV RESERVOIRS**

#### 1.2.1 Establishment and maintenance of viral latency

Despite intensive research to understand the pathogenesis of HIV infection and the development of therapeutic strategies, HIV/AIDS remains an incurable disease due to the establishment of viral latency within cellular or anatomical sanctuaries termed reservoirs. Viral latency is established very early in the acute phase of the infection (74), wherein HIV persists in reservoirs as replication-competent proviral DNA that remains transcriptionally dormant within the host chromosomal DNA following integration (75). This enables HIV to effectively escape host immune defenses since the latter do not detect any viral antigens. While the integrated provirus lacks the capacity to express viral RNA and viral proteins, it retains the ability to resume its replicative activity following treatment interruption (76). Even during long-term suppressive ART, the viral reservoir is not purged, especially in tissue compartments that are exposed to sub-therapeutic concentrations of antiretroviral drugs (77). When ART is initiated during primary infection and continued for greater than 10 years, the HIV reservoir may be reduced, although not eliminated (78).

Various processes were proposed to contribute to the maintenance of viral latency. One mechanism that is currently strongly debated is the presence of continuous low-level viral replication that replenishes the pool of latently infected cells despite treatment. Indeed, evidence of ongoing viral replication has been observed in patients under long-term suppressive ART (79, 80), perhaps favored by cell-to-cell transmission of HIV (81), in addition to trace amounts of residual viral RNA in the blood plasma (82, 83). However, these observations have been challenged with contradictory findings demonstrating a lack of genetic evolution of HIV-1 that should arise through viral replication (84, 85). Another means of maintaining HIV latency may be through homeostatic cellular proliferation, wherein the provirus integrates within or near regions of the host genome involved in cell cycle processes, resulting in the expansion of latently infected cells (86, 87). Once again however, this theory has been challenged as there is no evidence

indicating that the integrated provirus is replication-competent (88). The silencing of the integrated viral DNA itself can be maintained through mechanisms such as epigenetic histone modifications that suppress viral gene expression (89), the orientation of the integrated provirus within the host genome that either allows for viral promoter occlusion by a host polymerase (90, 91) or convergent collision between host and viral polymerases resulting in premature termination (92), and the cytoplasmic sequestering of transcription factors in resting cells (93).

#### 1.2.2 Cellular reservoirs of HIV

Latently infected memory CD4 T cells are the most well-documented HIV reservoirs to date (1), and this cellular sanctuary of the virus will be discussed in more detail below. Macrophages and myeloid cells may also act as reservoirs. Indeed, viral species were found in microglia (94), rectal macrophages are distinctly permissive to HIV-1 (95), vaginal macrophages exhibited significant viral replication (96), and alveolar macrophages experienced very low levels of cell death as opposed to interstitial macrophages during SIV infection (97). Astrocytes are another proposed viral reservoir, as integrated viral DNA has been detected in this type of cells in HIV-infected individuals (98).

#### **1.2.3** Anatomical reservoirs of HIV

Various anatomical sites in the human body have developed semi-permeable barriers and unique immunological landscapes as mechanisms of protection against foreign pathogens. While such measures have beneficial goals, the seeding of these sanctuaries by HIV or other infectious agents confers them detrimental characteristics. Indeed, due to restricted access to these sites, HIV is able to thrive in these compartments and establish viral latency. These anatomical reservoirs have thus become important topics of research in the quest to find a cure to HIV. One such reservoir is the central nervous system. The central nervous system is separated from the circulatory system by the blood-brain barrier. The latter is made of cells that create a tight and selective barrier restricting the passage of compounds from blood vessels in order to prevent various neuropathologies (99). These restricted substances include antiretroviral drugs that experience poor penetration to nervous sites (100). Since HIV can be found in the brains of HIVinfected individuals as early as the acute phase of the infection (101) and trace amount of infection occurs despite ART (102), the virus can establish viral latency in cells of the brain. HIV also finds sanctuary in testicular tissue. To ensure the proper development of spermatocytes, the male genital tract and the testes possess barriers that restrict the influx of substances from the blood, like the central nervous system. Hence, antiretroviral drugs similarly experience hurdles to access these sites and end up at ineffective concentrations in the seminal fluid (103). The testes contained differential viral load in semen compared to plasma suggesting a distinct compartmentalization of the virus within seminal fluid (104), detectable HIV RNA levels even when adequate antiretroviral penetration was achieved (105), and HIV-specific CD8 T cells (106). Furthermore, a study examining bilateral testes in both HIV<sup>+</sup> and HIV<sup>-</sup> individuals has demonstrated that the testes contain T cells that are more permissive to HIV, that exhibit a highly activated phenotype and that have suppressive potential against HIV-specific CD8 T cell activity (107), which further lends support for the persistence of HIV in testicular tissue. Sub-therapeutic levels of ART within these reservoir sites may contribute to the emergence of drug-resistant mutations and transmission of drug-resistant HIV variants. Furthermore, higher genital HIV RNA level increases one's risk for heterosexual transmission, independently from blood plasma (108). Other anatomical reservoirs of HIV are the lymph nodes. Lymph nodes contain germinal centres wherein B cells acquire important functional characteristics through interactions with dendritic cells and T follicular helper cells. T follicular helper cells were shown to be the primary central memory CD4 T cell subset that is susceptible to HIV (109) and contained replication-competent HIV DNA (110). Since B cell follicles are sites where the humoral immune response is built, CD8 T cells, specifically those with normal killer functionality, have restricted access to these sites (111), and B cell follicles within the lymph nodes can serve as important anatomical reservoirs where HIV establishes viral latency as a result of hindered anti-HIV immune responses.

#### **1.3 T CELL SUBSETS AS POTENTIAL CELLULAR RESERVOIRS OF HIV**

#### 1.3.1 Review of T cell development

T cells constitute a group of specialized blood cells that arise from a process known as hematopoiesis. During development, cells derived from the mesoderm of the embryo are conferred a hematopoietic fate through induction by growth factors (112). Subsequently, there are two waves of hematopoiesis: embryonic hematopoiesis, in which red blood cells are produced to oxygenate embryonic growth, and adult hematopoiesis, when hematopoietic stem cells arise to differentiate into various immune cells (113, 114). Hematopoietic stem cells, which reside in the bone marrow (115), undergo an initial lineage commitment process by producing common lymphoid progenitors (116) and common myeloid progenitors (117). The former gives rise to lymphocytes and natural killer cells while the latter gives rise to megakaryocyteerythrocyte or granulocyte-macrophage progenitors. Lymphoid progenitors may also arise through a different pathway involving multipotent progenitors (118). This subset of hematopoietic stem cells can express genes associated with the induction of T cells and B cells. The development of T cells occurs in an organ called the thymus, which has a microenvironment that facilitates the generation of a diverse T cell repertoire (119). A small proportion of common lymphoid progenitors and lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitors settle in the thymus following migration from the bone marrow. These progenitor cells travel inside the thymus and establish in the endothelium with the help of various homing molecules (120-122). Once established, the process of T cell differentiation begins.

Thymic-settling progenitor cells lack the expression of both CD4 and CD8, and are therefore coined double negative (DN) cells. These DN cells are further divided into four subgroups based on their expression of CD25, which is part of the IL-2 receptor, and CD44, an adhesion molecule involved in cell migration. DN1 cells (CD25<sup>-</sup> CD44<sup>+</sup>), which are also called early thymic progenitors, can give rise to T cells, natural killer cells, dendritic cells and B cells, as well as cells of the myeloid lineage (119, 123). Eventually, DN1 cells will gradually lose their ability to

differentiate into non-T cell populations through the actions of thymic epithelial growth factors, receptor ligands and signaling pathways to become DN2 cells (CD25<sup>+</sup> CD44<sup>+</sup>) (124). DN2 cells subsequently migrate through the cortex of the thymus, while in the mean time lineage restrictions and elimination of non-T cell fates continue (125). Gene rearrangement at the T cell receptor (TCR)- $\beta$ , TCR- $\gamma$  and TCR- $\delta$  loci begins (126), a mechanism that is completed within the DN3 stage. Indeed, among DN3 cells (CD25<sup>+</sup> CD44<sup>-</sup>), upon correct VDJ recombination of *Tcrb* and subsequent expression of TCR- $\beta$ , the latter can form a functional pre-TCR complex with CD3 and pT $\alpha$  (127). This process is called  $\beta$ -selection, since cells with unsuccessful TCR- $\beta$  expression undergo apoptosis (128), and gives rise to  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. In contrast,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells result from correct rearrangements of TCR- $\gamma$  and TCR- $\delta$  (129). By the end of the DN3 stage, all cells are committed to the T cell lineage. DN4 cells (CD25<sup>-</sup> CD44<sup>-</sup>) upregulate CD4 and CD8 to yield double positive (DP) cells, notably through pre-TCR signaling (130). The rearrangement of the TCR- $\alpha$  chain further confers the DP population with a non-specific yet functional TCR- $\alpha\beta$  complex, and a low affinity interaction between the newly-formed TCR and self peptide-bound MHC molecules found on cortical epithelial cells, dendritic cells and fibroblasts enables DP cells to survive and differentiate (131). This mechanism is called positive selection. DP cells also interact with self-antigens presented by medullary epithelial and dendritic cells, undergoing apoptosis if the interaction occurs with high avidity (131). This process is termed negative selection, since autoreactive T cells that can cause autoimmune damage are eliminated.

The mechanism for transitioning from a DP phenotype to a single positive (SP) CD4 or CD8 phenotype has been described using several models. In one model, either CD4 or CD8 is downregulated through the termination of CD4 or CD8 gene expression. MHC specificities come into play, as SP cells are rescued if the MHC matches the lineage (MHC class I for CD8 thymocytes and MHC class II for CD4 thymocytes) and eliminated otherwise (132). However, a more recent study has shown that MHC class II-restricted thymocytes are not always rescued towards the CD4 lineage and instead follow the CD8 lineage (133). In another model, a weak TCR signal terminates *Cd4* gene expression and produces a CD8 T cell, whereas a strong TCR signal terminates *Cd8* gene expression and produces a CD4 T cell (134). This model has been updated with a duration

determinant, wherein a short TCR signal produces CD8 T cells and a long TCR signal produces CD4 T cells (135), as well as a kinetic component, wherein the *Cd8* gene is initially terminated in DP cells and the consequence on TCR signaling is assessed (136). If signaling persists in the absence of the CD8 molecule, the cells become CD4 thymocytes. If the signaling does not persist, the cells differentiate into CD8 thymocytes following restored CD8 expression.

### **1.3.2** Phenotypic and functional characteristics of memory CD4 T cells

Cells with a memory phenotype constitute a subset of CD4 T cells that arise from surviving effector cells following an immunological threat. Upon antigenic exposure by antigenpresenting cells and concomitant cellular activation, effector CD4 T cells are mobilized through proliferation and differentiation, migrate to the site of inflammation and respond to the threat. Once their effector functions carried out, about 90% of the primed cells undergo apoptosis; the surviving cells become long-lived quiescent memory CD4 T cells (137). Memory CD4 T cells have the potential to quickly proliferate and regain their effector functionality upon secondary exposure to antigens. Studies examining the maintenance of lineage-specific functions in memory CD4 T cells have suggested that distinct epigenetic modifications and transcriptional mechanisms found in memory cells may play a critical role in the construction of a rapid, robust and heterogeneous response in future antigenic challenge (138). Compared to naïve cells, memory CD4 T cells produce a more efficient response to antigenic re-challenge and differentiate into more potent effector cells. Meanwhile, compared to effector cells activated during primary exposure, they preserve the ability to induce cellular proliferation and are less susceptible to cell death (139). While most memory CD4 T cells circulate through blood and lymphatic vessels towards target tissues, studies have shown that a portion of memory cells coined as resident may not re-enter circulation and are instead retained by various types of tissues (140).

Based on their proliferative and functional potential, memory CD4 T cells were first classified into a central memory subtype and an effector memory subtype: whereas the former resides in lymph nodes and can replenish the effector cell pool, the latter migrates to inflamed

sites and can mount rapid immune responses (141). More recent research has shown that memory CD4 T cells may not exist in a dichotomy. Indeed, other CD4 subsets arising during differentiation have been identified as showing a memory phenotype (142, 143). These include memory subsets such as stem cell memory T cells, central memory (CM) T cells, effector memory (EM) T cells and terminally differentiated (TD) T cells, each differentiating from the previous one (144). Table 1 shows markers that phenotypically characterize T cells at various stages of differentiation. Beyond a differentiation status perspective, memory CD4 T cells have also been classified based on their helper functions. For instance, Th1 cells participate in protective measures against bacteria, Th2 cells provides immunity against parasitic species and Th17 cells are involved in host immune defense mechanisms against extracellular bacterial and fungal threats (145).

	CCR7	CD62L	CD45RA	CD27	CD28
Naïve cells	+	+	+	+	+
T <sub>CM</sub> cells	+	+/-	_	+	+
T <sub>TM</sub> cells	_	+/-	_	+	+/-
T <sub>EM</sub> cells	_	+/-	_	_	+/-
T <sub>EMRA</sub> cells	_	_	+	_	_

 $T_{CM},$  central memory;  $T_{EM},$  effector memory;  $T_{TM},$  transitional memory;  $T_{EMRA},\ CD45RA^+$   $T_{EM}$  cells.

Table 1: Phenotypic markers identifying T cell subsets (146)

Memory CD4 T cells are particularly important in the mounting of an effective response against viral infections. Once the host organism encounters a virus, either through pathogenic exposure or immunizing vaccines, the immune system triggers a cascade of events that transform naïve CD4 T cells into effector CD4 T cells and finally generates memory CD4 T cells. As discussed above, these cells with a memory phenotype have a greater and more efficient potential in subsequent exposure to virus in terms of response potency and cellular recruitment. Long-lived memory CD4 T cells may play a crucial and protective role in secondary viral infection. For instance, upon re-infection with the influenza virus, the lungs, which already benefit from greater production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines triggered by memory CD4 T cells, also experience a rapid onset of innate protection mediated by these cells (147, 148). Not only do the cells have the capacity to respond effectively to re-infection and reduce the viral load, but importantly they can do so at earlier stages of pathogenesis. In a primary infection, the virus can infect cells and replicate with impunity until enough viral replication cycles have occurred to trigger an immune response. The early activation of memory CD4 T cells could reduce the damage done by the virus at low viral loads. Adding to this the fact that memory CD4 T cells work independently of pathways recognizing pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (147), this gives an advantageous edge to the host since viruses can actively inhibit the antiviral pathways that recognize double-stranded RNA by restricting the enzymes involved in them (149). Memory CD4 T cells also have the capacity to travel to B cell follicles more quickly through the higher expression of B cell follicle homing receptor CXCR5, giving them the ability to activate in an accelerated manner naïve B cells, which then class switch to produce relevant immunoglobulin isotypes (150). T cell-activated B cells can then produce functionally diverse antibodies against viruses in the early phases of infection.

#### **1.3.3 Memory CD4 T cells during HIV infection**

In the context of HIV infection, the progressive depletion of CD4 T cells is one of the key features of the disease's pathogenesis profile. As such, much research has gone into the study and understanding of the mechanisms underlying CD4 T cell death, namely how the virus weakens CD4 T cells' survival capacity (151) and how the immune system also contributes to cellular suicide through innate responses (152). One critical question asked by scientists was whether CD4 T cells are preferential targets of HIV or not. Indeed, determining the predispositions that enhance viral effects on CD4 T cells, potentially supporting their loss, may enlighten the pathways underlying HIV pathogenesis at the cellular level. That HIV-specific memory CD4 T cells were selectively infected by the virus was first shown around 15 years ago (153-155). In one of the first study examining this phenomenon, Douek *et al.* recruited 12 HIV<sup>+</sup> adults comprised of acutely and chronically infected individuals as well as treated and untreated individuals. After sorting HIV-specific memory CD4 T cells based on the production of interferon (IFN)-γ due to antigen stimulation, as well as unstimulated memory CD4 T cells, they observed that the HIV-specific subset contained higher

levels of HIV DNA compared to the other two cell populations. Upon examining p24 expression in CD4 T cells infected *in vitro*, they found successful infection to successively more cells after each round of cell division and greater frequency of activated HIV<sup>+</sup> naïve CD4 T cells. This observation was in line with previous findings showing that activated cells were more susceptible to infection than quiescent cells in culture conditions (156). Thus, they explained the greater levels of HIV DNA in HIV-specific memory CD4 T cells to the fact that HIV antigens activate the naïve subset, making it preferentially susceptible to infection. These naïve cells expand to effector and finally memory cells, creating a pool of HIV DNA-harboring memory CD4 T cells. Another explanation may be due to the greater expression level of the HIV co-receptor CCR5 found on memory CD4 T cells. Indeed, studies published before (157-159) and after (160, 161) the one by Douek *et al.* have shown that this co-receptor that provides a measure of the permissiveness of cells to HIV was upregulated and predominantly present among memory CD4 T cells. Therefore, the preferential infection of memory CD4 T cells could be due to the greater potential for the virus to enter the cells during the early phase of infection thanks to the expression of CCR5 on the cell surface.

#### 1.3.4 Persistence of HIV in effector memory and memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells

The persistence of HIV within successfully ART-treated patients was proposed to be a result of latent virus in CD4 T cells. While most HIV DNA were present in an unintegrated replication-deficient form, a minuscule portion of CD4 T cells harbored integrated replication-competent viral DNA (162) that do not produce viral proteins (75). These latently infected CD4 T cells can arise despite early ART initiation (163) and remain unhindered by the treatment for a period spanning most of the human lifespan (164). The establishment of a cellular reservoir of HIV in specific subsets of memory CD4 T cells was first shown by Chomont *et al*. In their study (1) comprised of HIV-infected individuals under suppressive ART, some of which were included before and after ART initiation, they found a drop in viral replication after long-term ART, with a concomitant integration of HIV DNA within the host DNA of memory CD4 T cell subsets equal to the total viral DNA detected. Furthermore, in patients with plasma viremia levels below the

threshold of ultrasensitive quantification, CM, transitional memory and EM CD4 T cells contributed the most and in that order to the size of the latent reservoir and produced replication-competent virus upon co-culture with uninfected allogeneic dendritic and CD4 T cells. Thus, this study identified a crucial immune cell subset that participates in the existence of the long-lived HIV reservoir. Indeed, memory CD4 T cells, which themselves are endowed with inherent survival and proliferative capabilities, can replenish the HIV reservoir despite ART initiation and harbor viral material that can infect surrounding cells upon ART cessation. More recent studies have lent support to the characterization of effector memory CD4 T cells as a cellular reservoir of HIV. In one study where the authors developed a new RNA fluorescence in situ hybridization-flow cytometry assay capable of detecting viral RNA in individual cells, they found that effector memory CD4 T cells exhibited evidence of viral transcription activity based on the presence of HIV RNA inside the cells of both ART-naïve and ART-treated patients (165). Another study used a high-throughput sequencing assay in conjunction with comparative genomics to sequence HIV proviruses and evaluate their replication competency. The authors demonstrated that effector memory CD4 T cells harbored the highest levels of potentially replication-competent, genetically intact proviral DNA in HIV-infected individuals under longterm suppressive ART (166).

Three additional cell subsets within the memory CD4 T cell population characterized by their functional activity have been proposed as potential cellular reservoirs of HIV. These latently infected subsets express the chemokine receptor CCR6, which is involved in Th17 polarization, and consist of total memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells, Th1Th17 CD4 T cells and memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup> CXCR3<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells. When investigating the permissiveness and resistance to HIV infection of functional subsets of memory CD4 T cells, cells expressing CCR6 were found to be highly enriched in integrated proviral species in ART-naïve people living with HIV, with Th1Th17 cells being greatly permissive to HIV (167). This last memory CD4 T cell subset is characterized by the co-expression of CCR6 and CXCR3, the latter being involved in the homing of cells to inflammatory sites. These findings were substantiated by the same team as they showed through transcriptional profiling that Th1Th17 exhibit molecular signatures associated with HIV permissiveness, cellular activation

and antiviral activity (168), and that all memory CD4 T cells expressing CCR6, including the three mentioned above, are depleted in peripheral blood and greatly susceptible to infection by HIV (169), and contain high levels of replication-competent viral DNA (170). While HIV-1 sequences persisted in Th1Th17 cells, the latter contributed inordinately at any time point as well as over time by harboring greater levels of total (171) and integrated HIV DNA (172). Meanwhile, memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> cells that lack the expression of both CCR4 and CXCR3 are the most numerous Th17-polarized CD4 T cells in the lymph nodes and peripheral blood of ART-treated HIV-infected individuals, and they were shown to harbor replication-competent integrated viral DNA (173). Together, these findings demonstrate the tremendous phenotypic and functional diversity of memory CD4 T cells that contribute to the long-lived HIV reservoir in various tissues during HIV infection.

#### 1.3.5 Origins of double negative T cells

Double negative (DN) T cells are T cells that lack both the CD4 and CD8 surface molecules. As previously discussed, the T cell differentiation pathway ends in the thymus with single positive cells expressing either CD4 or CD8 molecules. Hence, DN T cells found in the periphery are hypothesized to undergo a different developmental mechanism, occurring either in the thymus or extrathymically. As such, three models have been proposed to explain the origin of DN T cells. In the first model, DN T cells arise by escaping the T cell maturation pathway in the thymus (174, 175), while the second model refutes the first model, stating that DN T cells do not arise by escaping selection but rather originate as a result of it (176). Of interest is the third model in which HIV plays an important role in the emergence of DN T cells. The subset is suggested to arise from CD4 T cells wherein the single positive cells downmodulate the CD4 molecule. This model is supported both by mice and monkey studies. In TCR-transgenic mice, high dosage of antigenic peptides decreased the levels of CD4 SP cells and stimulated the expansion of DN cells among thymocytes (177). Evidence for these observations was also found among the natural SIV host African green monkeys, in which CD4 T cells that experience antigenic stimulation acquired the memory phenotype and downregulated CD4 expression *in vivo* (178). In the context of HIV,

transcriptional products of viral replication during infection have been shown to be involved in the peripheral expansion of DN T cells. Indeed, DN T cells were found to arise as a result of the actions of HIV proteins that induce the downregulation of CD4 on CD4 T cells (179). Using coprecipitation assessments and immunohistochemistry in HeLa cell lines, it was found that cells that expressed CD4 alone were able to export the molecule to the surface. Meanwhile, cells that expressed both CD4 and the HIV glycoprotein precursor gp160 saw these two molecules form complexes that remained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), thus preventing CD4 trafficking to the plasma membrane (180). Another mechanism of HIV-induced CD4 downregulation before export from the ER to the plasma membrane involves the viral protein Vpu, a protein expressed at later stages of infection (181). Vpu acts on newly synthesized CD4 molecules in the ER, marking them for degradation by proteolysis through the ER-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway (182). Finally, once on the surface of T cells, CD4 molecules can be targeted by the viral protein Nef for endocytosis and degradation. In Nef-expressing VB cell lines and surface CD4 biotinylation experiments, CD4 migrated to the cell surface in normal levels but were subsequently degraded from the surface with a half-life four times less than in control cells (183). The viral protein essentially introduces CD4 to proteins that internalize the molecule for degradation through lysosomal mechanisms (184). Together, these findings suggest that HIV infection plays a significant role in the induction of DN T cells, which can in turn participate in host immune responses as well as HIV/AIDS pathogenesis.

#### 1.3.6 DN T cells during HIV infection

In the context of HIV/AIDS, the frequency of  $\gamma\delta$  DN T cells were found to be higher in certain HIV<sup>+</sup> populations, including patients with co-infections and cancer (185, 186). As well, HIV RNA has been detected in  $\alpha\beta$  DN T cells from the peripheral blood and lymph nodes of HIV<sup>+</sup> patients (187). The findings demonstrating the enrichment of DN T cells in HIV/AIDS were both substantiated and challenged in recent studies. For instance, in patients living with HIV and who have reached the AIDS stage of disease progression, there was a substantial increase in the proportion of DN T cells in peripheral blood, so much so that while the DN T cell subset expressing

CD161 was twice as high in healthy individuals, the total frequency of CD161<sup>+</sup> DN T cells in peripheral blood was comparable between groups (188). In the female genital mucosa, a subset of DN T cells expressing the lymphocyte-activating gene (LAG)-3, a protein found in the mucosa at high levels, were greatly permissive to HIV (189). Meanwhile, in a cohort of recently infected individuals, DN T cells were observed to decrease in number in patients who reached later stages of HIV disease progression (190) and in patients who are immunological non-responders (191). Notwithstanding the variable changes in frequency during HIV infection, DN T cells play several roles in disease. In primary HIV infection, DN T cell proportions negatively correlated with CD8 T cell activation, suggesting the potential of DN T cells to predict and decrease immune activation (192). DN T cells may also contribute to specific and distinct responses to HIV, since contrasting TCR expression and cytokine production were observed between HIV-serodiscordant partners (193).

#### 1.3.7 Persistence of HIV in DN T cells

One key area of research about DN T cells in the context of HIV/AIDS pertains to its contribution to the persistence of the virus despite treatment through the establishment of a cellular reservoir. In a study using magnetic cell sorting to isolate T cell subsets and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays to measure viral DNA and RNA, researchers found that while CD4 T cells harbor the bulk of viral genome, as expected, it accounts for a small portion of active transcription; instead, the latter occurs primarily in DN T cells in patients with viremia (194). Based on the expression of p24, another study, this time examining pleural sites during co-infection with HIV and tuberculosis (TB), posited that DN T cells were the main source of productive infection and HIV-1 in the membranous compartment (195). Due to enhanced replication competency of DN T cells, their effects on disease control, perhaps through the establishment of a latent reservoir, is an important area of research. In patients who failed to respond to ART, as opposed to HIV-infected responders, isolated DN T cells may not be a major reservoir in patients on ART, the cell subset is nevertheless a source of virus if treatment is

terminated, thus contributing to HIV persistence. A more recent study investigated the expression of the Gag structural proteins, which are produced from integrated HIV genome. The paper showed that HIV proteins internalized CD4 T cells after infection, conferring the subset with a DN phenotype, and are expressed in patients on ART (197). While DN T cells can also produce viral proteins from replication-defective proviruses, they may also express replication-competent proviruses and release virus that can infect other cells, thus contributing to the establishment of a non-classical cellular HIV reservoir in ART-treated people living with HIV.

#### 1.3.8 CD32a: a recently discovered and controversial cellular marker of HIV latency

In order to develop therapeutic strategies that can target cells in which HIV remains hidden, the discovery of cellular markers of viral latency could greatly facilitate this endeavor. In a study published last year (198), a team of scientists looked at the expression and upregulation of genes in *in vitro* HIV-infected quiescent CD4 T cells. Among the genes that are highly expressed in latently infected cells, the low affinity immunoglobulin G Fc fragment receptor CD32a was the most induced on these infected CD4 T cells (198). CD32a was not detectable on neighboring cells or cells that were productively infected with HIV-1 (198). Blood samples of ART-treated patients showed that only 0.012% of CD4 T cells express CD32a, yet these cells harbored HIV DNA copies and replication-competent proviruses (198). However, CD4 T cells expressing CD32 were found to be more activated and correlated with generalized immune activation in viremic, ART-treated patients and in healthy individuals (199). Moreover, another study observed that productively infected CD4 T cells from the peripheral blood of healthy donors expressing viral RNA and proteins upregulated both CD32 and HLA-DR, a marker of immune activation (165). These contrasting findings and the numerous studies presented at the 25<sup>th</sup> Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI 2018) challenging the original paper are fueling the debate on the status of CD32a, and whether or not it is a marker of latently infected cells remains to be proven.
#### **1.4 T CELL DYSFUNCTIONS DURING HIV INFECTION**

#### 1.4.1 T cell immune activation

Generalized immune activation is one of the hallmarks of HIV infection. High levels of immune activation are indeed observed in ART-naïve and, at lower degrees, in long-term ARTtreated HIV-infected individuals and may result in immunological failure despite treatment (200, 201). In addition, immune activation may contribute to the establishment of viral latency by increasing the infection susceptibility in activated cells (1, 202). Early studies examining structural abnormalities of lymph nodes and blood samples of chronically infected patients found that CD4 and CD8 T cells expressed higher levels of the activation markers HLA-DR and CD38 (203). In addition, enrichment in HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells was linked to CD4 T cell depletion and disease progression (204). The establishment of a set point in immune activation during early infection predicted the rate of depletion of CD4 T cells (205). The persistence of pathological levels of immune activation in T cell subsets was associated with microbial translocation, higher levels of coagulation and inflammation (203). The mechanisms that cause immune activation are manifold. The first potential cause is HIV itself. Viral proteins Nef and Vpr are able to stimulate immune cells such as macrophages (206) and viral RNA can induce cytokine production through Toll-like receptors (207). Microbial translocation also plays an important role, as the loss of integrity of the gut epithelium allows for gut microbes to enter the body and further stimulate the immune system (208). Co-infections are additive factors that can provoke generalized chronic activation. Indeed, studies have shown that HIV-infected people who are co-infected with viruses such as Hepatitis C or human herpesvirus 8 have higher levels of T cell activation compared to HIV mono-infected individuals (209, 210). Immune senescence may also cause immune activation as aging cells produce high levels of inflammatory molecules both *in vitro* (211) and *in vivo* (212). Finally, an imbalance between the pro-inflammatory Th17 cells and anti-inflammatory regulatory T cells that inhibit other CD4 T cell subsets may influence the levels of immune activation (213).

#### **1.4.2 T cell immune senescence and T cell immune exhaustion**

While immune senescence is a contributor to increased immune activation seen during HIV infection, it is also itself a result of persistent and residual inflammation and chronic activation (214). HIV-induced immune senescence, through chronic activation, is a premature cellular aging process that may play a significant role in the pathogenesis of HIV and progression towards clinical AIDS (215). Studies have shown an accumulation of CD8 T cells that lack CD28 expression induced by the shortening of telomeres during successive rounds of replication (216). Viral replication and T cell activation indeed promote cellular proliferation and differentiation of cells that have encountered antigens. These T cells, especially CD8 T cells, eventually lose CD28, begin expressing CD57, and have a reduced capacity to produce IL-2 and to proliferate. Furthermore, their cytokine production profile becomes pro-inflammatory, with the secretion of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  (217, 218). Meanwhile, another phenomenon occurs wherein increased HIV-induced cellular activation results in cellular exhaustion as T cells rapidly expend their functional resources as they try to respond to the infection. During chronic untreated infection, the programmed death (PD)-1 receptor was found to be highly expressed on the surface of exhausted antigen-specific CD8 T cells in mice and was associated with a pathway that impaired CD8 T cell function (219). In humans, the elevated expression of PD-1 on HIVspecific T cells was linked to cellular exhaustion and dysfunction, uncontrolled viremia and disease progression (220). CD4 T cells expressing PD-1 was also suggested to play a role in HIV persistence (221), while a subset of PD-1<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells co-expressing CD160 showed advanced dysfunction (49).

#### **1.5 THE LUNGS AS ANATOMICAL RESERVOIRS OF HIV**

#### 1.5.1 Pulmonary immunity

The lungs are important anatomical reservoirs of HIV that have been relatively understudied after the introduction of ART. To understand the mechanisms that confer the lungs with the capacity to provide HIV with a sanctuary for viral latency, the lungs' immunological landscape and specifically mucosal immunity must be considered. The lungs have the second most extensive mucosal surface in the human body after the digestive tract (222). The pulmonary mucosal surface is in constant contact with the exterior environment and thus with foreign agents, both organic and inorganic. To avoid underestimating or overestimating threats, the lungs understandably developed unique immune properties to protect the host, including surveillance functions monitoring harmless foreign agents and immune mechanisms against potential pathogens (222). Pulmonary immunity has both an innate aspect for broad and immediate responses, and an adaptive aspect for specialized responses.

#### 1.5.1.1 Innate immunity within the lungs

The first line of defense within pulmonary innate immunity are defense mechanisms mediated by ciliated epithelial cells, periciliary fluid and mucus (223). These components allow for foreign agents to be captured prior to making their way to the lower respiratory tracts, be treated with antimicrobial substances and be propelled upwards to be swallowed or coughed out. The antimicrobial substances found in the periciliary fluid include peptides such as lactoferrin, which traps iron away from bacteria to prevent growth, lysozymes, which participates in the lysis of Gram-positive bacteria, C-type lectins, which can enhance phagocytic activity, and defensins, which act against bacteria, viruses and fungi (224). In addition to this humoral innate response, the lungs also experience a cellular innate response mediated by resident cells such as airway epithelial cells, dendritic cells and alveolar macrophages. Airway epithelial cells function against invading antigens by secreting antimicrobial peptides and identifying conserved antigenic

motifs known as PAMPs by using pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptors (225). The secretion of antimicrobial peptides allows for the elimination of microbes and the recruitment of innate and adaptive immune cells, while recognition of PAMPs favors the expression of genes encoding for cytokines, chemokines and antimicrobial peptides (226). Lung resident dendritic cells also play an important role by serving an intermediate role between innate and adaptive immunity (227). Indeed, dendritic cells lining the respiratory tract have an increased ability to detect pathogens, migrate into draining lymph nodes, activate naïve T cells to become effector T cells, and initiate an adaptive immune response (228). Finally, alveolar macrophages are the most prominent cellular component of innate immunity in the respiratory lumen, as more than 90% of alveolar mucosal cells under normal conditions are alveolar macrophages (229). As such, alveolar macrophages serve as the primary phagocytes in pulmonary innate immunity. Their activities include release of proinflammatory cytokines and phagocytosis of foreign microorganisms and particulates (230), as well as maintenance of lung homeostasis and integrity (231). These functions require a certain degree of plasticity and phenotypic heterogeneity in order to address real pathogenic threats while limiting responses against self or harmless antigens (232).

#### 1.5.1.2 Adaptive immunity within the lungs

The immune responses triggered during the innate phase of lung immunity is of significant importance in the initiation of pulmonary adaptive immunity. Indeed, studies have shown that following antigen binding of Toll-like receptors found on innate immune cells, the concomitant production of inflammatory signals promote T cell maturation and proliferation (233), and even enhance the activity of memory T cells during infection (234). Meanwhile, in the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue, germinal centers form where antibody class-switching occurs on B cells that then migrate to the mucosa of the lungs to interact with various T cell and innate immune cell subsets (222). During viral infections, the lungs experience a substantial increase in the frequency of both CD4 and CD8 T cells (235, 236). As is the case in other instances of adaptive immune response, when the infection is over and the virus is cleared, long-lived

memory T cells remain in the event of a future re-infection. As the lung mucosa is a major site of pathogenic contact, a specialized subset of memory T cells coined tissue-resident memory T cells also establish a pool within the lung mucosa. These tissue-resident cells have enhanced abilities to respond more effectively to infection and promote survival (237). Thus, the lungs constitute a unique immunological effector site that maintains a dynamic microenvironment mediated by both innate and adaptive components before, during and after an immune challenge.

# 1.5.2 Pulmonary mucosal immunity during HIV/SIV infection

HIV infection is associated with higher rates of pulmonary clinical complications. The prevalence of chronic lung diseases, notably chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), among HIV-infected individuals exceeds that observed in age and sex-matched HIV-uninfected controls (238, 239). Bacterial pneumonias are up to 25 times greater in HIV-infected individuals with suppressed peripheral viral loads on ART compared to HIV-uninfected participants (240). Influenza is also a common respiratory illness in HIV-infected individuals on ART, even despite vaccination (241), and the incidence of TB is higher in HIV-infected individuals on ART than in the general population (242). Immune abnormalities present in the lungs of HIV-infected individual, namely inflammation, immune activation and immune senescence, were linked to the incidence of chronic lung disease, specifically COPD, which is present at 20-60% in HIV<sup>+</sup> persons compared to 7% in healthy people (3) and is the third leading cause of death in North America (243). Smoking, on the other hand, was not found to be effectual on the progression of HIV infection toward clinical AIDS (244), though it was linked to higher risk of mortality due to non-AIDS-related diseases (245) and smokers overall displayed decreased cytotoxic activity (246), reduced phagocytosis by HIV-infected alveolar macrophages (247) and increased HIV replication (248). Of particular interest, HIV infection is recognized as an independent risk factor of altered pulmonary immunity, independent of smoking status (238).

The lungs are highly perfused organs and HIV gains entry into the lungs by infecting peripheral blood lymphocytes that migrate towards the pulmonary compartment (249). Various

features of the pulmonary compartment may facilitate the dissemination of the virus. Due to the lungs' large alveolar surface area and very small diameter capillaries (250), abundant levels of pulmonary cells remain in close proximity to one another which may facilitate cell-to-cell transmission of the virus. Alveolar macrophages in particular can transmit the virus to T cells through antigen presentation (251), as they express higher levels of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in AIDS patients (252), as well as spread the virus through proliferation mediated by the higher release of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor seen in HIV-infected individuals (253). In the acute phase of the infection, HIV uses the chemokine co-receptor CCR5 to infect host cells, while in the chronic phase of the infection, it enters the cell via attachment to CXCR4, whose expression is high in myeloid cells and increased in T cells in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of chronic AIDS patients (254). Of interest, the CCR5 tropic strain HIV- $1_{Bal}$  was originally isolated from a lung (255). Despite contrasting findings on the magnitude of viral replication in the lungs of SIV-infected monkeys, with low levels during the acute phase of infection seen in some studies (256) and detectable viral RNA correlating with plasma viral load found in other studies (257, 258), these indicate a certain degree of SIV seeding and replication in the early stages of infection. Alveolar macrophages, which are found at the surface of the alveoli (259), may play a role in harboring persistent virus. Indeed, studies have shown that alveolar macrophages from BAL fluid collected from macaques were productively infected with SIV (260) and provided a sanctuary to the virus due to their low turnover rate in contrast to interstitial macrophages (97), which are found between the alveolar epithelium and vascular endothelium (259). It has been suggested that the significant levels of SIV RNA may be a causal factor in lung interstitial inflammation (261).

In terms of cellular changes following infection, there is a substantial influx of cytotoxic CD8 T cells, a phenomenon termed lymphocytic alveolitis, directed against alveolar macrophages that have been infected with HIV (262-264) and resulting in cough, dyspnea, interstitial pneumonitis, pulmonary dysfunctions (265), major inflammatory reactions (266) and other complications (267). Specific to the functionality of the lungs, the massive infiltration of cytotoxic CD8 T cells may cause structural damage, emphysema and restricted carbon dioxide diffusion

(268). Furthermore, these newly arriving CD8 T cells exhibit an exhausted phenotype and are functionally deficient (269). Meanwhile, CD4 T cells experience a reduction in their numbers due to their elimination by the incoming anti-HIV CD8 T cells, apoptotic dysfunction and attachment with alveolar macrophages (2). Pulmonary mucosal EM CD4 T cells displayed a Th1 and activated phenotype (270), but those with antigen specificity and IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$  secretion polyfunctionality were found in lower frequency in the BAL of HIV-infected individuals compared to healthy individuals (271). B cells experience an impaired behavior as they become activated non-specifically and produce less antigen-specific antibodies (272). This may result in imbalances in Th1/Th2 ratio and cytokine production (273) and dysfunctional formation of opsonizing antibodies (274), the latter in turn resulting in streptococcal pneumonia (275) and pneumococcal disease (276). Finally, alveolar macrophages, specifically the small ones, were found to be preferentially infected by HIV, which results in defective phagocytic capacity and potential infections of the lower respiratory tract (277). As a result of HIV infection, alveolar macrophages experience other abnormalities. They release cytokines and chemokines that promote viral replication and T cell proliferation, including pro-inflammatory molecules TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6 and IFN- $\alpha$ , they have impaired clearance capacity, and they are less prone to pathogenic response initiation due to the depletion of cells that release macrophage-activating cytokines such as IFNγ (278) (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Immune abnormalities within the lungs during untreated HIV infection (2).

Interestingly, infection with a highly pathogenic chimeric simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) produced no significant longitudinal alterations to the microbiome of the lungs of cynomolgous macaques that had individual microbiotic variations (279). The bacterial flora of the lungs may therefore play a role in the pathogenesis and immune response to SIV or HIV, as previous reports have shown that SHIV infection resulted in low levels of viremia and CD4 survival (280). Studies on the pulmonary microbiome have also been done on humans with HIV, although to date no clear conclusions have been reached and the dynamics between the pulmonary HIV reservoir and the microbiome is uncharacterized (281-283).

#### **1.5.3 Effects of pulmonary HIV co-infections on pulmonary mucosal immunity**

Higher levels of HIV replication have been observed in various pathologies involving coinfectious agents including cytomegalovirus (284), Pneumocystis jirovecii (285) and Mycobacterium tuberculosis (286, 287). In the case of Pneumocystis jirovecii pneumonia for instance, HIV in cell-free BAL fluid was four times higher in co-infected patients (288), and coculture of alveolar lymphocytes revealed that co-infected persons produced five times more virus (285). The mechanisms by which co-infections stimulate viral replication pertain to immune alterations in the lungs, stimulation of transcription and hindrance to host immune responses. For instance, opportunistic co-infections can activate latently infected alveolar macrophages into producing granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factors that promote macrophage proliferation (253) and induce viral replication (289). Gram-negative bacteria may produce chronic activation through lipopolysaccharides, the major component of their outer membrane (290), which in turn induces the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) mechanism of HIV activation (291). Co-infections also have the ability to upmodulate CD4 molecules. As such, increased density of CD4, which is used by HIV during entry, effectively augments susceptibility to infection (292). Fungicidal activity (293) and neutrophil recruitment (294), both mediated by alveolar macrophages, were lower in co-infected populations. Of interest is TB, which is the primary cause of mortality in HIV-infected individuals worldwide even in spite of ART (295). Importantly, TB induces the expression of CCR5 and CXCR4, co-receptors

used by HIV for cell entry, thus promoting HIV infection (296). It was also associated with greater genetic variance in HIV (297) and enhanced viral replication in alveolar macrophages of people living with both HIV and TB (286, 287).

#### 1.5.4 The lungs as anatomical HIV reservoirs in the ART era

After initiation of effective ART, partial immune reconstitution was observed in the lungs (298), though infections such as bacterial pneumonia are still more prevalent in HIVinfected individuals compared to healthy individuals (299). However, the specific effects of ART on pulmonary mucosal immunity and on viral latency in the lungs are not well documented, as most studies examining these correlates were conducted prior to the introduction of combination ART, during the era of mono- and dual-therapy (2). In addition, most of the studies performed to date have been conducted on individuals who were on ART for a relatively short time period (300), while those who examined HIV infection of alveolar macrophages did not use highly purified cell populations (301). In the ART era, there was a progressive reduction in several infectious diseases including cytomegalovirus disease, while co-infections such as Pneumocystis *jirovecii* pneumonia and TB experienced an increase in incidence (302). One longitudinal study, which recruited ART-naïve HIV-infected individuals in the post-ART era and examined BAL fluid before ART initiation, four weeks after initiation and 24 weeks after initiation, showed that the HIV burden and lymphocytic alveolitis decreased after treatment (300). Another study demonstrated CD4 T cell reconstitution following ART initiation (303), while residual HIV DNA persisted in CD4 T cells from BAL fluid despite six months of suppressive ART (300). Indeed, BAL cells harbored differential resistance mutations in the HIV reverse transcriptase compared to peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), which is indicative of active viral replication in the lungs despite ART (304). Importantly, the anti-HIV polyfunctional capacities of lung mucosal CD4 and CD8 T cells remain unchanged following ART initiation (303).

In studies involving SIV-infected monkeys, the lungs were the anatomical compartment with the second highest levels of SIV RNA after lymphatic tissues (305). While ART allows for the

viral load in blood plasma to reach undetectable levels, low levels of viral replication continue to occur in anatomical sanctuaries, allowing HIV to mutate and evolve (306). Importantly, one monkey study using SIV Gp120-specific antibody labelling (immunoPET) and full-body imaging has found significantly detectable levels of SIV in the respiratory tissues of both viremic and ARTtreated aviremic rhesus macaques (306). Genotypic studies examining HIV variants and phylogenies within the lungs compared to the peripheral blood have shown that the virus experiences a certain degree of compartmentalization in the pulmonary site. Indeed, HIV-1 lineages in alveolar macrophages independently evolved further from their ancestral lineage compared to blood monocytes (307), were phylogenetically apart from their circulating counterparts (308), and differentially used the chemokine co-receptors for entry into cells compared to virus in the blood (309). As discussed above, the lungs contain abundant levels of alveolar macrophages as well as lymphocytes in close proximity. This allows for greater potential for cell infection and active cell-to-cell transmission of HIV. In addition to harboring cells susceptible to infection and diverse HIV variants, the lungs also experience differential penetration depending on the antiretroviral drug used. Hydrophilic antiretroviral drugs are often administered in liposomal capsules since drugs with higher lipophilic potential penetrate the lungs better, and this was substantiated by the fact that efavirenz, which has high lipid solubility, had a higher potential of HIV RNA clearance in the pulmonary compartment (310). As seen in other anatomical reservoirs, drug penetration has critical ramifications in the establishment of viral latency. Thus, drugs with lower lipid solubility and consequently lower penetration can allow the lungs to become anatomical sanctuaries for the virus. However, to date, the clinical outcomes resulting from differential antiretroviral penetration within the lungs of ART-treated individuals has not been assessed. In addition, pulmonary mucosal T cell immunity in HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals under long-term suppressive ART has not yet been fully described. Therefore, the quantification of the HIV reservoir in pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cell subsets and their phenotypic characterization are of paramount importance to understand the dynamics governing viral latency and persistence in the lungs and develop targeted therapeutic strategies to purge the pulmonary anatomical reservoir. In addition, the cytotoxicity and anti-HIV specific responses of pulmonary CD8 Tcells

and their contribution to HIV persistence within the lungs of HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals under suppressive ART remains to be explored.

# **CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY**

**Author contribution:** The methodologies presented in this chapter were designed by Syim Salahuddin, Dr. Cecilia Costiniuk, Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian and Dr. Nicolas Chomont.

#### 2.1 Study population and specimen collection

A total of 24 HIV-infected and 8 healthy participants were recruited at the McGill University Health Centre (MUHC) in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. HIV<sup>+</sup> participants were all ARTtreated with suppressed plasma viral load for at least 3 years and a CD4 count of at least 350 cells per mm<sup>3</sup>. Both HIV<sup>+</sup> and HIV<sup>-</sup> participants were without any active respiratory symptoms, acute pulmonic process or pulmonary co-infections. Participants with contraindications to bronchoscopy or on medication with increased risks of bleeding were excluded. All participants underwent spirometric testing to ensure the absence of any undiagnosed obstructive pulmonary disease. Information on participant characteristics and antiretroviral drugs was extracted from the clinical database and participant electronic records. All participants consented to providing BAL fluid, pulmonary biopsies and peripheral blood, despite no medical necessity for the procedure. Bronchoscopies were performed by a trained respirologist at the MUHC Centre for Innovative Medicine. A bronchoscope was passed through the mouth into the right lung, and a saline solution was squirted and collected to obtain 50 to 100 ml of BAL fluid. Bronchial biopsies were taken from the sub-segmental and segmental carinae of the right middle and right lower lobes. In addition, 40 ml of matched peripheral blood was also drawn.

# 2.2 Ethical considerations

This study using BAL fluid, pulmonary biopsies and peripheral blood from HIV-infected and healthy study participants was conducted in compliance with the ethical principles included in the Declaration of Helsinki and received approval from the Institutional Review Boards of the MUHC (#15-031), Université du Québec à Montréal (#602) and Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM) Research Centre (#15-180). All study participants signed a written informed consent for their study participation.

# 2.3 Sample processing

Within 1 hour following the bronchoscopy, pulmonary biopsies were conserved at -80°C as dry pellets. The BAL fluid was centrifuged and pulmonary mucosal cells were obtained. The supernatant was conserved at -80°C to measure the levels of HIV RNA in cell-free BAL fluid. 0.5 to 1 million pulmonary mucosal cells were conserved at -80°C as dry pellets for HIV DNA and RNA quantifications. The rest were stained for phenotypic characterization and cell sorting by flow cytometry. The peripheral blood was centrifuged to obtain plasma, which was then conserved at -80°C. PBMCs were isolated by Ficoll density gradient centrifugation and subsequently stained for phenotypic characterization and cell sorting by flow cytometry (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Isolation of pulmonary mucosal cells and PBMCs, and subsequent usage. "Alveolar macrophages" is abbreviated as "AMs".

# 2.4 Cell sorting

A fraction of freshly collected cells from the BAL fluid were used for cell sorting of pulmonary CD4 T cells and alveolar macrophages. BAL cells were stained with CD3 AlexaFluor700,

CD4 FITC, CD8 APC-H7 and CD206 PE. Pulmonary CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells and CD206<sup>+</sup> AMs (277) were FACS-sorted on a BD-Aria cell sorter to obtain highly pure populations for HIV DNA and RNA quantifications. Of note, due to the limited quantities of cells recovered from the BAL fluid, these measurements were not performed in all participants.

# 2.5 HIV DNA and RNA quantifications

The frequency of cells harboring total HIV DNA (copies per million cells) was measured by Dr. Nicolas Chomont's lab at the CHUM Research Centre using a well-established assay (sensitivity of 1 copy per PCR reaction) (1, 311) with minor modifications to the original protocol. Notably, DNA from PBMCs and BAL cell pellets was extracted using the QIAamp DNA mini kit (Qiagen) before being subjected to PCR amplification. Cell-associated HIV RNA was quantified by ultrasensitive real-time (RT)-PCR as described in a previous study (312). CD4 T cells from PBMCs were purified by negative selection magnetic isolation.

# 2.6 Phenotypic characterization of T cell subsets

Multi-color flow cytometry staining was performed on freshly isolated PBMCs and pulmonary mucosal cells. A viability dye kit from Invitrogen was used to exclude dead cells from the analysis. Frequencies of naïve, CM, EM, TD and senescent T cells were measured on live CD4 T-cells by CD28, CD45RA and CD57 expressions. Regulatory T cells (Tregs) were defined as CD127<sup>low</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup>. The expression levels of the immunosuppressive ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 were assessed. Th subsets were determined by CCR4, CCR6 and CXCR3 expression. Activated cells were identified with activation markers HLA-DR and CD38. Expression of HIV correceptor CCR5 was assessed on CD4 T cells, while expression of PD-1, CD160, Granzyme B and perforin were assessed on CD8 T cells. Finally, CD32a and the associated IgG2b,  $\kappa$  isotype control were also used to determine the expression of the low affinity type II Fcy receptor. A 3-laser BD Fortessa-X20 was used for acquisition and results were analyzed by FlowJo V10.2.

# 2.7 Statistical analyses

GraphPad Prism V6.01 was used for statistical analyses. Results in the text are presented as mean ± standard deviation. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality test was used to assess the Gaussian distribution. A paired Student's *t*-test was used to compare study variables when the paired values passed the normality test. A Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test was used for comparison when the paired values did not pass the normality test. Non-paired comparisons between study groups was conducted by the Mann-Whitney *U* test. Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was computed for correlation analyses.

# **CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH FINDINGS**

**Author contribution:** The experiments in this chapter were conducted by Syim Salahuddin, Dr. Omar Farnos and Amélie Pagliuzza. Analyses and interpretation of the data were performed by Syim Salahuddin, Dr. Cecilia Costiniuk, Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian and Dr. Nicolas Chomont.

# 3.1 Characteristics of study population

24 HIV<sup>+</sup> adults were enrolled in this study, with demographic and clinical parameters included in Table 2. Seven participants were current tobacco smokers. Median age was 52 (IQR: 47-58) years, duration of HIV infection was 15 (IQR: 12-25) years, and duration of viral load suppression was 9 (IQR: 4-10) years. A minimum of 3 years of HIV suppression was selected since the number of HIV-infected cells, as determined by HIV DNA levels in CD4 T cells, typically declines during the initial 1 to 3 years of ART, then reaches a stable level that does not decline further during subsequent treatment (313). The number of study participants on integrase inhibitors was 16 (67%), while six (25%) were on protease inhibitor-based regimens and four (17%) were on non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-based regimens. Median peripheral blood CD4 T cell count was 558 (IQR: 430-876) cells/mm<sup>3</sup>, CD4% was 32 (IQR: 27-37) and CD4/CD8 ratio was 0.7 (IQR: 0.60-0.97). In addition, we also recruited 8 HIV-uninfected participants without any respiratory symptoms based on their spirometric evaluation. Median age was 61 (IQR: 56-64) years, median peripheral blood CD4 T cell count was 531 (IQR: 37-48) and CD4/CD8 ratio was 2.25 (1.93, 2.68). Table 2 summarizes the demographic, clinical and lifestyle information of the study populations.

	ART-treated HIV <sup>+</sup>	Healthy adults
	adults	N=8
	N=24	
Demographic factors		
Age in years, median (IQR)	52 (47 <i>,</i> 58)	61 (56, 64)
Male sex, n (%)	19 (79%)	8 (100%)
Ethnicity, n (%)		
Caucasian	17 (71%)	8 (0%)
Black/Caribbean	3 (13%)	0 (0%)
Black/African	2 (8%)	0 (0%)
Hispanic	2 (8%)	0 (0%)
HIV-related factors		
Duration of HIV infection in years, median (IQR)	15 (12 <i>,</i> 25)	N/A
Duration since viral load suppressed in years, median	9 (4, 10)	N/A
(IQR)		
Antiretroviral regimen, n (%)*		
Integrase inhibitor	16 (67%)	N/A
Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor	4 (17%)	N/A
Protease inhibitor	6 (25%)	N/A
CD4 count in cells/mm <sup>3</sup> , median (IQR)	558 (430 <i>,</i> 876)	531 (360, 572)
CD4 percentage, median (IQR)	32 (27, 37)	41 (37, 48)
CD4/CD8 ratio	0.7 (0.6 <i>,</i> 0.97)	2.25 (1.93, 2.68)
Lifestyle factors		
Tobacco smoker, n (%)		
Current	7 (29%)	1 (13%)
Ever	12 (50%)	2 (25%)
Never	5 (21%)	5 (63%)

Table 2: Demographic, clinical and lifestyle parameters of both study groups. IQR: interquartile range. \*Note: 1 participant was on a regimen containing both an integrase inhibitor and a protease inhibitor; 1 participant was on regimen containing both an integrase inhibitor and a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor.

# **3.2 HIV persistence in the lungs of ART-treated HIV-infected individuals**

Ultrasensitive RT-PCR was performed to quantify the frequency of cells harboring HIV DNA in matched BAL cells, lung biopsies (approximately 2 to 3 mm deep) and PBMCs. The mean number of total HIV DNA copies per million cells was significantly higher in BAL cells compared to PBMCs and to biopsies  $(3910\pm10717 \text{ copies}/10^6 \text{ cells } vs 296.9\pm307.1 \text{ copies}/10^6 \text{ cells, } p=0.009;$ and 47.00±42.52 copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells, p=0.001, Figure 7A), suggesting that the surface of the mucosa was enriched in HIV-infected cells when compared to blood and pulmonary tissues. Frequencies of cells harboring HIV DNA in BAL cells and PBMCs were positively correlated (Figure 7B). Total HIV DNA was then quantified in FACS-sorted CD4 T cells from the BAL fluid, isolated CD4 T cells from peripheral blood and FACS-sorted alveolar macrophages. CD4 T cells from the BAL fluid harbored higher levels of total HIV DNA compared to peripheral CD4 T cells and alveolar macrophages, though significance could not be reached for the latter cell subset (Figure 7C). Importantly, in a subset of study participants in whom we had sufficient number of BAL cells (n=7), cell-associated HIV RNA was detected in BAL from 4 participants (Figure 7D). Although the levels of HIV RNA did not differ between BAL cells and PBMCs, this suggested that pulmonary mucosal cells may serve as a site of active viral replication under suppressive ART. Altogether, these observations demonstrate clearly that the lungs are enriched in CD4 T cells harboring high levels of HIV DNA in individuals despite long-term ART.



Figure 7: Quantification of total HIV DNA and cell-associated HIV RNA. (A) Total HIV DNA in PBMCs, BAL cells and pulmonary biopsies (copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells). (B) Correlation analysis of HIV DNA in BAL cells *vs* PBMCs. (C) Total HIV DNA in CD4 T cells purified from PBMCs, and CD4 T cells and alveolar macrophages purified from BAL cells (copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells). (D) Cell-associated HIV RNA in BAL cells *vs* PBMCs. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected. "Alveolar macrophages" is abbreviated "AM".

# 3.3 Differentiation phenotype of pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells compared to blood

T cell subsets among BAL cells *vs* PBMCs were phenotypically characterized as described in Figure 8A. The frequency of naïve CD4 T cells was significantly lower in the BAL fluid *vs* blood in both study arms (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 0.954±1.31% *vs* 32.4±15.4%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 4.08±9.8% *vs* 32.0±16.8%, p=0.008; Figure 8B). The frequency of TD CD4 T cells was also lower in the BAL fluid *vs* blood in both study arms (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 0.65±0.61% *vs* 5.10±3.86%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 0.786±0.906% *vs* 9.46±14.2%, p=0.02; Figure 8E). Conversely, EM CD4 T cells, a known cellular reservoir for intact HIV genomes (1, 314-316), were present at significantly higher frequencies among BAL cells compared to PBMCs in both HIV<sup>+</sup> and HIV<sup>-</sup> participants (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 52.7±22.0% *vs* 6.79±11.3%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 55.3±12.7% *vs* 1.14±1.62%, p=0.008; Figure 8D). Frequencies of CM CD4 T cells did not differ between the pulmonary and peripheral compartments in HIV-infected individuals but did differ significantly in healthy volunteers (HIV<sup>-</sup>: 39.5±13.1% *vs* 57.2±13.7%, p=0.03; Figure 8C).



Figure 8: Differentiation phenotype of CD4 T cells in ART-treated HIV-infected participants and healthy participants. (A) Gating strategy used in flow cytometry to define CD4 T cell subsets. Naïve (N), central memory (CM), effector memory (EM), and terminally differentiated (TD) CD4 T cells were defined as CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>+</sup>, CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD28<sup>+</sup>, CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup>, and CD45RA<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup>, respectively. Percentages of (B) naïve, (C) central memory, (D) effector memory and (E) terminally differentiated CD4 T cells among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected.

# 3.4 Immune activation and immune senescence of CD4 T cells

T cell subsets among BAL cells *vs* PBMCs were phenotypically characterized as described in Figure 9A to assess levels of immune activation and immune senescence. Higher frequencies of CD4 T cells expressing the immune activation marker HLA-DR was observed in the BAL fluid of both groups compared to blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 27.0±12.2% *vs* 5.22±2.70%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 32.5±25.9% *vs* 5.00±4.90%, p=0.008; Figure 9B). When looking at co-expression of both activation markers HLA-DR and CD38, only the HIV-infected group showed a significant increase in activated CD4 T cells in the lungs compared to blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 3.68±4.24% *vs* 1.38±0.729%, p=0.002; Figure 9C). Interestingly, BAL cells of HIV-infected individuals expressed higher levels of HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells compared to BAL cells of HIV-uninfected individuals (p=0.04; Figure 9C). Meanwhile, BAL CD4 T cells were more senescent (CD57<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup>) compared to their circulating counterparts in both groups (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 22.4±14.8% *vs* 6.15±14.3%, p=0.002; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 16.6±13.3% *vs* 0.432±0.367%, p=0.02; Figure 9D). Altogether, these results point to an important enrichment in the proportion of highly differentiated, activated and senescent CD4 T cells in the lungs when compared to blood in participants receiving long-term suppressive ART and in healthy volunteers.



Figure 9: Immune activation and immune senescence of CD4 T cells. (A) Activated CD4 T cells were characterized as HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> and HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup>, while senescent CD4 T cells were characterized as CD57<sup>+</sup>CD28<sup>-</sup>. (B) Percentage of activated HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells and activated HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. (D) Percentage of senescent CD4 T cells among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected.

# **3.5 Distribution of memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell subsets**

We also assessed the presence of various CD4 T cell subsets previously described as preferential cellular reservoirs of HIV (170, 172, 173). The frequencies of memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>, Th1Th17 (defined as CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CCR6<sup>+</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup>CXCR3<sup>+</sup>) and memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> lacking the expression of CCR4 and CXCR3 (Figure 10A) within CD4 T cells were assessed. Memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> and Th1Th17 CD4 T cells were significantly higher in the BAL fluid *vs* blood of HIV-infected patients (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 47.1±25.3% *vs* 28.2±17.5%, p=0.002; 14.6±14.9% *vs* 3.83±2.70%, p=0.002; Figure 10B, C). However, in healthy participants, only memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells were enriched in the BAL fluid *vs* blood (HIV<sup>-</sup>: 45.1±17.6% *vs* 26.9±7.04%, p=0.009). Moreover, the memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup>CXCR3<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cell subset, another recently proposed HIV reservoir (173), was also enriched in the BAL fluid *vs* blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 11.4±11.4% *vs* 6.08±8.75%, p=0.008; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 9.83±5.30% *vs* 3.92±3.35%, p=0.03; Figure 10D).



Figure 10: Distribution of memory CCR6<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cell subsets. (A) Gating strategy used in flow cytometry to isolate memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>, Th1Th17 and memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup>CXCR3<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells. Percentage of (B) memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>, (C) Th1Th17 and (D) memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup>CXCR3<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected.

#### 3.6 Frequencies of CD39<sup>+</sup> regulatory CD4 T cells

In other immunological effector tissues such as the gut mucosa, higher frequencies of immunosuppressive total Tregs and CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs as well as the imbalance between Tregs and effector T cells were described during chronic HIV infection (317). Our team also showed previously that these cells are involved in HIV disease progression by inhibiting anti-HIV specific responses (318). CD39 is an ectonucleotidase which hydrolyzes inflammatory adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into adenosine monophosphate (AMP), linking Tregs to the mechanism of ATP breakdown and potentially to the production of immunosuppressive adenosine. Within Tregs defined as CD127<sup>low</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup>, we observed a higher proportion of Tregs expressing CD39 in the BAL fluid compared to blood of HIV-infected participants (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 62.6±19.3% *vs* 48.7±18.9%, p=0.008; Figure 11B), suggesting their potential role in the pulmonary compartment in reducing anti-HIV responses.



Figure 11: Enrichment in CD39<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells in the lungs of ART-treated HIV-infected adults. (A) Regulatory CD4 T cells were characterized as CD127<sup>low</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup>. (B) Percentage of CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs among total regulatory CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected.

#### 3.7 Phenotypic characterization of double negative T cells

Another proposed cellular HIV reservoir are CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> DN T cells, which may be generated as a consequence of the downregulation of CD4 by HIV accessory proteins Nef or Vpu during productive infection (197, 319, 320). Here, DN T cells were defined in two manners, as CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ <sup>-</sup>CD8 $\alpha\beta$ <sup>-</sup> or CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta$ <sup>-</sup>TCR $\gamma\delta$ <sup>-</sup> (Figure 12A). Under both definitions, the frequencies of DN Tcells were significantly higher in the BAL fluid compared to blood in ARTtreated HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 16.1±15.5% vs 4.98±2.53%, p=0.0002; 21.1±17.9% vs 10.5±22.8%, p=0.005, respectively; Figures 12B, C), an increase not seen in healthy individuals which may indicate that downregulation of CD4 was achieved by HIV. In addition, in HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals, BAL vs PBMC DN T cells exhibited higher levels of immune activation (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 14.9±9.24% vs 8.58±4.35%, p=0.01; Figure 12D) and lower levels of the immune senescence (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 20.0±10.7% vs 29.9±16.0%, p=0.003; Figure 12E), which is not the case in healthy individuals. To determine if these DN T cells are recent thymic emigrants (RTE), the expression of the RTE marker CD31 (321) was measured. DN T cells expressed lower levels of CD31 in the BAL fluid vs blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 35.9±15.9% vs 54.6±13.2%, p=0.002; Figure 12F) in HIV<sup>+</sup> individuals, suggesting that these DN T cells present in the BAL fluid were not recently generated from the thymus, while no significant difference was observed in healthy participants. Interestingly, DN T cells recently migrated from the thymus were observed at a higher frequency in the lungs of healthy volunteers compared to the lungs of HIV-infected patients (p=0.02; Figure 12F). These results demonstrated the abundant presence of DN T cells in the BAL fluid of ART-treated HIV-infected adults and suggest that these cells likely represent a more advanced stage of T cell differentiation.



Figure 12: Distribution and phenotypic characterization of DN T cells. (A) Two strategies of gating used in flow cytometry for DN T cell identification based respectively on CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8 $\alpha\alpha^{-}$ CD8 $\alpha\beta^{-}$  and CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta^{-}$ TCR $\alpha\delta^{-}$  phenotypes. Percentage of DN T cells defined as (B) CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8 $\alpha\alpha^{-}$ CD8 $\alpha\beta^{-}$  and (C) CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>TCR $\alpha\beta^{-}$ TCR $\gamma\delta^{-}$  among total CD3 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Percentage of (D) activated and (E) senescent DN T cells among total DN T cells in BAL compared to blood. (F) Percentage of DN T cells recently migrated from the thymus in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected.

# 3.8 Expression of CD32a on pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells of ART-treated adults

CD32a is the low affinity Fcy type II receptor recently proposed as a marker of quiescent CD4 T cells enriched in HIV cellular reservoirs in the blood of virally suppressed individuals (198). To determine the potential role of CD32a<sup>+</sup> T cells in HIV persistence during ART in the lungs, the expression of CD32a was quantified on CD4 T cell subsets from the BAL fluid vs blood. To properly assess CD32a expression, an isotype control IgG2b was used to eliminate nonspecific binding signals of antibodies (Figure 13A). The frequency of CD32a<sup>+</sup> cells was significantly higher in CD4 T cells from BAL cells compared to PBMCs (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 1.89±2.31% vs 0.168±0.173%, p=0.005; Figure 13A) of HIV-infected individuals under long-term suppressive ART. Interestingly, higher levels of pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells co-expressing CD32a and the HIV co-receptor CCR5 were observed in the BAL fluid compared to blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 0.413±0.493% vs 0.0542±0.0798%, p=0.04; Figure 12B). In addition, CD4 T cells co-expressing CD32a and the activation marker HLA-DR were found in greater frequency in the BAL fluid vs blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 0.296±0.452% vs 0.0407±0.0281%, p=0.02; Figure 13C). 92.5±9.08% of pulmonary CD32a<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells were HLA-DR<sup>+</sup> compared to 37.9±34.3% in the blood. These results demonstrate an enrichment of HIV permissive and activated CD32a<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells in the lung mucosa.



Figure 13: Frequency and characterization of CD4 T cells expressing CD32a. (A) Gating strategy used in flow cytometry to quantify CD32a<sup>+</sup> T cells using IgG2b κ isotype controls. Percentage of CD32a<sup>+</sup> cells among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. (B) Representative figure showing the co-expression of CD32a and CCR5 on pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells, and percentage of CD4 T cells co-expressing CD32a and CCR5 among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. (C) Representative figure showing the co-expression of CD32a and HLA-DR on pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells, and percentage of CD4 T cells, and percentage of CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood. (C) Representative figure showing the co-expression of CD32a and HLA-DR on pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells, and percentage of CD4 T cells co-expressing CD32a and D4T cells co-expressing CD32a and HLA-DR on pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells, and percentage of CD4 T cells co-expressing CD32a and HLA-DR among total CD4 T cells in BAL compared to blood.

#### 3.9 Differentiation phenotype of pulmonary mucosal CD8 T cells compared to blood

The frequency of naïve CD8 T cells was significantly lower in BAL cells *vs* PBMCs in both study arms (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 4.44±7.16% *vs* 26.6±16.5%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 4.92±8.72% *vs* 28.4±15.2%, p=0.001; Figure 14A). The frequency of TD CD8 T cells was also lower in the BAL fluid *vs* blood in both study arms (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 10.6±9.52% *vs* 39.3±19.8%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 7.13±8.00% *vs* 22.1±13.9%, p=0.001; Figure 14D). Among the memory CD8 T cell subsets, EM CD8 T cells were present at significantly higher frequencies among BAL cells compared to PBMCs in both HIV<sup>+</sup> and HIV<sup>-</sup> participants (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 66.6±23.4% *vs* 8.64±5.42%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 61.8±18.4% *vs* 6.28±5.36%, p=0.008; Figure 14C), while frequencies of CM CD8 T cells decreased in the pulmonary *vs* peripheral compartments in HIV-infected individuals only (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 16.8±14.7% *vs* 24.4±13.5%, p=0.04; Figure 14B).



Figure 14: Differentiation phenotype of CD8 T cells in ART-treated HIV-infected participants and healthy participants. Percentages of (A) naïve, (B) central memory, (C) effector memory and (D) terminally differentiated CD8 T cells among total CD8 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected.

#### 3.10 Immune activation, immune exhaustion and functional phenotype of CD8 T cells

Various phenotypic and functional characteristics of CD8 T cells were assessed, including levels of PD-1, Granzyme B and perforin (Figure 15A). Higher frequencies of CD8 T cells expressing the immune activation marker HLA-DR was observed in the BAL of both groups compared to blood (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 15.8±10.5% vs 5.26±4.36%, p<0.0001; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 30.0±20.6% vs 8.13±5.80%, p=0.02; Figure 15B). As discussed previously, generalized cellular immune activation in CD8 T cells have been linked to accelerated exhaustion and immune dysfunction. As such, PD-1 was assessed in CD8 T cells of HIV-infected individuals. Pulmonary mucosal CD8 T cells expressed higher levels of PD-1 than their circulating counterparts in ART-treated patients (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 37.3±24.5% vs 6.74±3.34%, p=0.01; Figure 15C). It was previously demonstrated that CD8 T cells expressing CD73, an ectonucleotidase involved in the generation of immunosuppressive adenosine, are antigen-specific cells in the context of HIV infection and HIV elite controllers are characterized with elevated frequencies of these cells (322). Importantly, lower frequencies of CD73<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells were observed in the BAL fluid compared to blood in both study arms (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 10.8±9.42% vs 30.7±16.6%, p=0.0004; HIV<sup>-</sup>: 11.2±4.52% vs 35.6±15.8%, p=0.01; Figure 15D). We then assessed the intracellular expression of Granzyme B and perforin on CD8 T cells as Granzyme B is involved in the induction of apoptosis, while perforin generates pores on target cells to allow the entry of Granzyme B (323). Notably, a massive decrease in perforin expression and lower levels of Granzyme B were observed in pulmonary mucosal CD8 T cells vs blood CD8 T cells (HIV<sup>+</sup>: 5.04±11.1% vs 20.7±21.1%, p=0.008 and 35.8±14.0% vs 46.5±13.4, p=0.12, respectively; Figure 15E). Altogether, these observations suggest that pulmonary CD8 T cells may have less anti-HIV and cytotoxic functions, which may in turn contribute in HIV persistence within the lungs despite suppressive ART.



Figure 15: Functional phenotype of CD8 T cells. (A) Gating strategy used in flow cytometry to identify exhausted and dysfunctional cells. Percentages of (B) activated and (C) exhausted CD8 T cells, (D) percentage of CD8 T cells expressing CD73, and (E) percentages of CD8 T cells expressing perforin and Granzyme B among total CD8 T cells in BAL compared to blood. Of note, statistical analyses are mentioned within the figures only if a significant difference is detected. Panel E is an exception wherein the p-value for the comparison of Granzyme B expression is shown despite not reaching significance, perhaps due to the small sample size.

# **CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION**

**Author contribution:** The following chapter was written by Syim Salahuddin, with suggestions from Dr. Cecilia Costiniuk and Dr. Mohammad-Ali Jenabian.
In this study, we provided evidence that the lungs contribute to HIV persistence in individuals receiving long-term suppressive ART. We performed an extensive phenotypic characterization of pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cell subsets. Previous studies performed before the introduction of ART revealed the role of alveolar macrophages in HIV replication (2). This is consistent with the fact that opportunistic infections targeting the pulmonary compartment and increased risk of TB are associated with HIV infection (2, 238, 267, 303). However, the role of pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells in HIV persistence within the lungs remained unclear. Our study is one of the few that addresses the important question of HIV persistence within the lungs in the era of ART. Although one cannot exclude the contribution of alveolar macrophages to HIV persistence during ART (277, 301), it is globally accepted that memory CD4 T cells constitute the major cellular reservoir of HIV wherein the virus remains in a latent form (1). In line with this idea, our study reveals the significant infiltration in the pulmonary mucosa of various CD4 T cell subsets previously identified in the blood as important reservoirs of HIV. These findings in turn underscore the necessity to consider the pulmonary HIV burden in therapeutic strategies aimed at eradicating the virus.

We found that the mean total HIV DNA copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells was 13-fold higher in total BAL cells *vs* PBMCs of participants on long-term suppressive ART (median time of viral suppression: 9 years). Importantly, the levels of HIV DNA were correlated between both pulmonary and peripheral compartments. Interestingly, we found higher HIV DNA levels in total BAL cells *vs* pulmonary biopsies, suggesting that viral DNA is seeded mainly within cells at the mucosal levels. As alveolar macrophages were reported to be infected by HIV (277), we assessed whether they or CD4 T cells are enriched in HIV DNA by FACS-sorting matched pulmonary mucosal CD4 T cells, alveolar macrophages and peripheral CD4 T cells. We found that CD4 T cells in the lung mucosa represent the highest HIV burden within the lungs as these cells contain greater HIV DNA levels compared to alveolar macrophages, except in two study participants. The measurement of total HIV DNA is known to overestimate the size of the replication-competent HIV reservoir given that most viral DNA is defective (324). Although it will be important to confirm our observation by using functional assays, several studies have found that total HIV DNA can be used as a surrogate

to determine the frequency of cells capable of producing viral proteins (316) and even infectious viruses (325). Importantly, we were able to detect cell-associated HIV RNA in BAL cells from 4 out of 7 participants, suggesting that these cells may support persistent levels of viral transcription during long-term suppressive ART. These findings are consistent with the fact that antiretroviral drugs do not act on viral transcription (326), thus allowing residual viral transcription to occur during ART. Such residual viral transcription occurs mainly at barrier surfaces where T cells are activated through interactions with the microbial flora. This was clearly reported for gut-associated lymphoid tissue by other groups (327) and by our current results within the lungs.

In both ART-treated HIV-infected patients and healthy individuals, we observed a significant reduction in the frequency of naïve CD4 T cells, and conversely, a dramatic enrichment in effector memory CD4 T cells in BAL cells *vs* PMBCs. The immune system is organized in primary and secondary lymphoid tissues, and peripheral effector sites including the lungs (328, 329). Therefore, the enrichment of effector cells is expected given that pulmonary mucosal tissues are immunological effector sites that are constantly exposed to infectious and environmental agents, and undergo chronic antigenic stimulation. Effector memory CD4 T cells were previously identified as the main subset supporting HIV transcription in both peripheral blood and intestinal tissues in ART-treated adults (330). Importantly, in peripheral blood of individuals on ART, effector memory CD4 T cells may harbor the majority of the intact and replication competent HIV DNA in the midst of other memory T cells (1, 315, 316, 325). They promote HIV persistence via their ability to undergo homeostatic proliferation which maintains and maybe increases the number of infected cells independently of *de novo* infection after prolonged ART (312).

Another important observation we made was the increased frequency of activated CD4 T cells at the mucosal surface of the lungs compared to blood. CD4 T cell activation is important as cellular immune activation may contribute to HIV persistence through both promotion of HIV replication and enhanced susceptibility of bystander cells to infection (331). Immune activation drives cycles of cellular expansion until these cells eventually reach a replicative limit, characterized by the loss of co-stimulatory receptor CD28 in senescent T cells which are in cell-

cycle arrest (332). Senescent T cells are dysfunctional and less capable of clearing infections. They also contribute to persistent upregulation of the pro-inflammatory response (332). Repeated exposures to tobacco, environmental toxins and infectious agents induce repeated stress on the lungs and may result in immune activation and immune senescence. The accumulation of senescent T cells could impair the cell maintenance and repair capabilities of the lungs and promote tissue destruction in the long-term (332). In HIV<sup>+</sup> adults, COPD and lung cancers are reported much earlier than in the general population (238). It must be underscored that the elevated risk of lung diseases and cancer in HIV infection is independent of smoking (238). Therefore, the high CD4 T cell differentiation, activation and senescence could contribute to allowing HIV to establish a viral reservoir in the lungs upon infection, and to heighten the HIV burden and mucosal pro-inflammatory milieu post-infection (238).

CCR6<sup>+</sup> Th17 cells, which are attracted to the gut and vaginal mucosae, are preferentially infected very early following infection and harbor high levels of replication-competent HIV DNA compared to CCR6<sup>-</sup> T cells despite suppressed viral load by ART (167, 170, 333). In addition, Th1Th17 cells express molecular signatures associated with HIV permissiveness (168) and contain high levels of HIV DNA under suppressive ART (171, 173). Furthermore, memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CXCR3<sup>-</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells, another subset of Th cells, have been proposed as another preferential reservoir for HIV (173). Of particular interest, we found higher frequencies of memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>, Th1Th17 and memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CXCR3<sup>-</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells in the pulmonary mucosa *vs* blood, highlighting the potential contribution of various lymphoid subsets to higher HIV burden within the lungs. In line with our data, Brenchley *et al.* observed that in contrast to the gut, Th17 cells were not preferentially lost from the BAL fluid of HIV-infected individuals (334). Considering the limitations in performing HIV reservoir measurement on rare cell subsets from the lungs, whether lung-infiltrating Th17 cells comprise cellular HIV reservoirs in the lungs remains an open question.

Our lab and others have previously shown that higher levels of immunosuppressive Tregs and the imbalance of effector T cells and Tregs in the blood and gut mucosa is associated with suppression of anti-HIV T cell responses (318, 335). Here, we observed a higher frequency of CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs in the lungs *vs* blood of HIV-infected adults. CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs are involved in HIV disease progression and suppression of anti-HIV T cell responses via the hydrolysis of inflammatory ATP into immunosuppressive adenosine in concert with another ectoenzyme, CD73 (318, 336). The increase in CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs was not seen in healthy individuals. Therefore, higher CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs in the lung mucosa of ART-treated patients could be HIV-induced. Indeed, it could be in response to highly activated effector cells in the pulmonary mucosa and/or of pro-inflammatory senescent T cells, phenomena observed in HIV<sup>+</sup> participants. Notwithstanding the cause for the emergence of CD39<sup>+</sup> Tregs, the latter could in the context of HIV infection be either beneficial, suppressing T cell activation, or harmful, decreasing HIV-specific T cell responses, cytokine production and T cell proliferation, thus contributing to viral persistence (318, 335).

We also examined CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> DN T cells which could display both helper and immunoregulatory functions. The maintenance of high numbers of these cells which secrete Th cytokines is associated with immune activation (192). In primary HIV infection, DN T cells displayed immunosuppressive functions by IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  secretion to control immune activation (192). During chronic infection, a decline in DN T cells correlates with rapid disease progression (190). This immunosuppressive function could explain, at least in part, their higher frequencies within the lungs of HIV-infected individuals due to high levels of immune activation. Importantly, DN T cells have been identified as persistent HIV reservoirs that carry HIV Gag proteins despite ART (197). As opposed to healthy individuals, the lungs of HIV-infected individuals harbored higher frequencies of DN T cells compared to peripheral blood. These cells may therefore contribute significantly to HIV persistence within the lungs.

DN T cells may originate in the thymus by escaping negative selection followed by migration in the periphery where they expand upon experiencing antigens (337). To determine if pulmonary mucosal DN T cells originated from the thymus or developed extra-thymically, the recent thymic migration marker, CD31 (321), was measured. DN T cells expressed lower levels of CD31 in the BAL fluid *vs* blood in HIV-infected participants, suggesting that the DN T cells we

observed in the BAL fluid were not recent thymic emigrants. Also in the HIV<sup>+</sup> study arm, pulmonary DN T cells are less senescent compared to blood. A hypothesis is that these DN T cells had previously expressed the CD4 molecule but had lost CD4 expression following HIV infection. Indeed, it has been shown that Nef and Vpu proteins of HIV could downregulate CD4 from the cell surface of infected cells (319, 320). In line with this, frequencies of pulmonary DN T cells in healthy individuals did not differ compared to peripheral blood, which may lend support for the role of HIV in the emergence of DN T cells within the lungs. Furthermore, pulmonary DN T cells in healthy participants expressed CD31 in greater frequency compared to their counterparts in HIV-infected participants. This further supports the hypothesis that a subset of DN T cells in the lung mucosa of HIV-infected individuals did not escape the thymus recently and may have originated extra-thymically instead, perhaps in the lungs and as a result of HIV infection. CD4 downregulation can occur in infected T cells with minimal viral replication (197), and previous HIV infection of CD4 T cells could partially explain their enrichment within the lungs of ART-treated HIV-infected patients.

We also investigated the expression of the newly proposed marker of HIV latency in quiescent infected cells, CD32a, a low affinity immunoglobulin G Fc fragment receptor (198). We found higher expression of CD32a on pulmonary CD4 T cells *vs* their peripheral counterparts in HIV-infected individuals. Importantly, these cells expressed high levels of the activation marker HLA-DR within the lungs, which is in line with another recent study (199). Furthermore, following HIV infection of unstimulated PBMCs *ex vivo*, infected cells concomitantly upregulated the expression of both CD32 and HLA-DR (314). Indeed, productively infected cells expressing HIV RNA and Gag protein upregulated these markers by 2-folds (314). Although we assessed CD32a as a potential marker of HIV infection, it is not known whether CD32<sup>+</sup> pulmonary cells are indeed HIV-infected. Due to their very low proportion within pulmonary CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, we were not able to address this question by FACS-sorting.

Finally, we looked at the phenotypic and functional characteristics of CD8 T cells, which play a vital role in HIV-specific immune responses. In line with the effector aspect of the lungs as

an organ in constant contact with foreign organic and inorganic substances, there was an enrichment of effector memory CD8 T cells in both HIV-infected and healthy participants. Pulmonary mucosal CD8 T cells were also highly activated compared to their circulating counterparts. Importantly, both study groups showed a decrease in CD8 T cells expressing CD73, an immunosuppressive ectonucleotidase, in the lungs compared to blood. In the context of HIV, this observation is of particular importance as it was previously reported that CD73<sup>+</sup> CD8 T cells are antigen-specific cells and contribute in the processes of viral suppression in HIV elite controllers (322). We speculate that lower frequencies of HIV-specific pulmonary CD8 T cells may lead to weaker anti-HIV responses, in turn contributing to HIV persistence within the lungs, though HIV-specific functional tests will be required to test this hypothesis. In addition, pulmonary mucosal CD8 T cells in the HIV-infected study group demonstrated greater levels of immune exhaustion as seen by higher expression of PD-1, which may result in dysfunction and viremia (220) as well as contribute to viral persistence (221) as previously reported. Indeed, we observed an important decrease in perforin and Granzyme B (though statistical significance was not achieved for Granzyme B, likely due to the small sample size of assessed participants) in pulmonary CD8 T cells in HIV-infected adults. Indeed, pulmonary CD8 T cells are almost devoid of perforin and this may dramatically decrease their cytotoxic functions. Altogether, our observations suggest that potential dysfunctionality of pulmonary CD8 T cells could contribute to HIV persistence within the lungs despite long-term ART.

Our study has some limitations which merit discussion. The lungs are highly complex organs with various cells that synthesize an abundance of various fluids, antimicrobial proteins and mucins. It is unknown whether these cells may also be HIV reservoirs and how their products may contribute to HIV persistence. We attempted to examine FACS-sorted CD4 T cell subtypes known to be HIV reservoirs, but we were limited by cell numbers required for sorting since macrophages represent more than 90% of cells, while lymphocytes represent less than 10% of cells in the BAL fluid (250). In addition, at this point of the research project, we did not provide phenotypic analyses related to CD8 functions in uninfected individuals as we made the corresponding hypothesis only once we confirmed HIV persistence in FACS-sorted CD4 T cells. At that point we were not able to recruit sufficient numbers of uninfected participants for these assessments. Moreover, anti-HIV and cytotoxic functional assays of pulmonary CD8 T cells need to be done to confirm our hypothesis. Another limitation of our study is that we did not perform genetic sequencing of HIV variants found in the BAL fluid *vs* peripheral blood cells. Studies from the early ART era showed much less sequence variability in HIV found within the lungs leading to complete phylogenetic separation of HIV lineages *vs* blood (308).

## **CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY**

In summary, we provide evidence supporting the notion that the lungs are anatomical reservoirs of HIV during ART. In virally suppressed HIV<sup>+</sup> adults, the lungs' mucosal cells contain higher levels of HIV DNA compared to PBMCs and to lung biopsies. Cells that contribute to HIV reservoir persistence in the lungs include CD4 T cell types documented to carry HIV reservoirs in the blood, namely effector memory, memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>, Th1Th17, memory CCR6<sup>+</sup>CCR4<sup>-</sup>CXCR3<sup>-</sup> and CD32a<sup>+</sup> CD4 T cells, as well as double negative T cells. In addition, there are a number of immune features and abnormalities observed in the pulmonary mucosal compartment compared to the peripheral blood, some pertaining to CD4 T cells such as the induction of immune senescence and of cells that may hinder anti-HIV responses, some pertaining to CD8 T cells such as cellular exhaustion, decrease in an HIV-specific cell subset and reduced cytotoxic potential, and some to both such as immune activation. In healthy individuals, effector memory and certain Th17 subsets known as HIV reservoirs were enriched. Upon infection, these can provide sanctuaries for HIV to establish latency. Immune activation and immune senescence of CD4 T cells remain, while CD8 T cells that can serve as HIV-specific cells are found in lower levels. This knowledge on the composition of immune cells infiltrating or residing within the lung mucosa is a necessary step towards elucidating the factors contributing to HIV persistence. While the advent of ART has greatly improved the quality of life of HIV-infected individuals and reduced AIDS-related mortality, the existence of cellular and anatomical reservoirs of HIV remains the primary barrier towards HIV eradication. Tremendous efforts brought about by scientists and clinicians from around the world geared towards identifying and characterizing latent HIV reservoirs have been crucial in improving our understanding of HIV/AIDS pathogenesis and improving clinical outcomes in HIV-infected individuals. Characterizing the pulmonary mucosal HIV reservoirs will bring us closer towards developing tissue-targeted therapeutic strategies and ultimately finding a cure to HIV. In conducting this study, we hope to contribute to the firmament of scientific, clinical, epidemiological, socioeconomic, societal and cultural works tirelessly put forth by people globally since the discovery of HIV/AIDS in order to help people infected with HIV lead a better, dignified and healthy life, and one day hopefully without HIV.

## REFERENCES

1. Chomont N, El-Far M, Ancuta P, Trautmann L, Procopio FA, Yassine-Diab B, et al. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. Nat Med. 2009;15(8):893-900.

2. Costiniuk CT, Jenabian MA. The lungs as anatomical reservoirs of HIV infection. Rev Med Virol. 2014;24(1):35-54. A license to reproduce figure 5 was granted by John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

3. Fitzpatrick M, Crothers K, Morris A. Future directions: lung aging, inflammation, and human immunodeficiency virus. Clin Chest Med. 2013;34(2):325-31.

4. Sharp PM, Hahn BH. Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2011;1(1):a006841.

5. Keele BF, Van Heuverswyn F, Li Y, Bailes E, Takehisa J, Santiago ML, et al. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. Science. 2006;313(5786):523-6.

6. Worobey M, Gemmel M, Teuwen DE, Haselkorn T, Kunstman K, Bunce M, et al. Direct evidence of extensive diversity of HIV-1 in Kinshasa by 1960. Nature. 2008;455(7213):661-4.

7. Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S. Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. AIDS. 2006;20(16):W13-23.

8. Renjifo B, Gilbert P, Chaplin B, Msamanga G, Mwakagile D, Fawzi W, et al. Preferential inutero transmission of HIV-1 subtype C as compared to HIV-1 subtype A or D. AIDS. 2004;18(12):1629-36.

9. Kiwanuka N, Laeyendecker O, Robb M, Kigozi G, Arroyo M, McCutchan F, et al. Effect of human immunodeficiency virus Type 1 (HIV-1) subtype on disease progression in persons from Rakai, Uganda, with incident HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis. 2008;197(5):707-13.

10. Kim JE, Beckthold B, Chen Z, Mihowich J, Malloch L, Gill MJ. Short communication: identification of a novel HIV type 1 subtype H/J recombinant in Canada with discordant HIV viral load (RNA) values in three different commercial assays. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2007;23(11):1309-13.

11. Geretti AM, Harrison L, Green H, Sabin C, Hill T, Fearnhill E, et al. Effect of HIV-1 subtype on virologic and immunologic response to starting highly active antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(9):1296-305.

12. Martinez-Cajas JL, Pai NP, Klein MB, Wainberg MA. Differences in resistance mutations among HIV-1 non-subtype B infections: a systematic review of evidence (1996-2008). J Int AIDS Soc. 2009;12:11.

13. Gottlieb MS, Schroff R, Schanker HM, Weisman JD, Fan PT, Wolf RA, et al. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia and mucosal candidiasis in previously healthy homosexual men: evidence of a new acquired cellular immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med. 1981;305(24):1425-31.

14. Barre-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Rey F, Nugeyre MT, Chamaret S, Gruest J, et al. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science. 1983;220(4599):868-71.

15. Durack DT. Opportunistic infections and Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men. N Engl J Med. 1981;305(24):1465-7.

16. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS). Fact sheet - Latest statistics on the status of the AIDS epidemic. UNAIDS. 2017. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018.

World Health Organization. The top 10 causes of death. World Health Organization. 2017.Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018.

18. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory (GHO) Data: HIV/AIDS. World Health Organization. 2017. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018. Figure 1 was obtained from http://www.who.int/gho/hiv/en/. Permission to reproduce information found on the WHO website for research and educational purposes is granted in the copyright notice page of the WHO website (http://www.who.int/about/copyright/en/).

Public Health Agency of Canada. Summary: measuring Canada's progress on the 90-90-90
 HIV targets. Public Health Agency of Canada. 2017. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018.

Challacombe L. The epidemiology of HIV in Canada. CATIE. 2017. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar
 2018.

21. Li G, De Clercq E. HIV Genome-Wide Protein Associations: a Review of 30 Years of Research. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2016;80(3):679-731. Authorization to republish figure 2 was granted by the American Society for Microbiology.

22. Wilen CB, Tilton JC, Doms RW. HIV: cell binding and entry. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(8).

23. Berger EA, Doms RW, Fenyo EM, Korber BT, Littman DR, Moore JP, et al. A new classification for HIV-1. Nature. 1998;391(6664):240.

24. Hu WS, Hughes SH. HIV-1 reverse transcription. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(10).

25. Craigie R, Bushman FD. HIV DNA integration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(7):a006890.

26. Debyser Z, Christ F, De Rijck J, Gijsbers R. Host factors for retroviral integration site selection. Trends Biochem Sci. 2015;40(2):108-16.

27. Lu H, Li Z, Xue Y, Zhou Q. Viral-host interactions that control HIV-1 transcriptional elongation. Chem Rev. 2013;113(11):8567-82.

28. Karn J, Stoltzfus CM. Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of HIV-1 gene expression. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(2):a006916.

29. Chamond N, Locker N, Sargueil B. The different pathways of HIV genomic RNA translation. Biochem Soc Trans. 2010;38(6):1548-52.

30. Chen J, Nikolaitchik O, Singh J, Wright A, Bencsics CE, Coffin JM, et al. High efficiency of HIV-1 genomic RNA packaging and heterozygote formation revealed by single virion analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(32):13535-40.

31. Bell NM, Lever AM. HIV Gag polyprotein: processing and early viral particle assembly. Trends Microbiol. 2013;21(3):136-44.

32. Ono A, Freed EO. Cell-type-dependent targeting of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly to the plasma membrane and the multivesicular body. J Virol. 2004;78(3):1552-63.

33. Ono A, Ablan SD, Lockett SJ, Nagashima K, Freed EO. Phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate regulates HIV-1 Gag targeting to the plasma membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(41):14889-94.

34. Ono A, Freed EO. Plasma membrane rafts play a critical role in HIV-1 assembly and release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(24):13925-30.

35. Waheed AA, Freed EO. Lipids and membrane microdomains in HIV-1 replication. Virus Res. 2009;143(2):162-76.

36. Jolly C, Sattentau QJ. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virological synapse formation in T cells requires lipid raft integrity. J Virol. 2005;79(18):12088-94.

37. Balasubramaniam M, Freed EO. New insights into HIV assembly and trafficking. Physiology (Bethesda). 2011;26(4):236-51.

38. Sundquist WI, Krausslich HG. HIV-1 assembly, budding, and maturation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(7):a006924.

39. Rodrigues V, Ruffin N, San-Roman M, Benaroch P. Myeloid Cell Interaction with HIV: A Complex Relationship. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1698.

40. Ahmed Z, Kawamura T, Shimada S, Piguet V. The role of human dendritic cells in HIV-1 infection. J Invest Dermatol. 2015;135(5):1225-33.

41. Chauhan A, Tikoo A, Patel J, Abdullah AM. HIV-1 endocytosis in astrocytes: a kiss of death or survival of the fittest? Neurosci Res. 2014;88:16-22.

42. Maartens G, Celum C, Lewin SR. HIV infection: epidemiology, pathogenesis, treatment, and prevention. Lancet. 2014;384(9939):258-71. Permission and license to reprint figures 3 and 4 was granted by Elsevier.

43. Haase AT. Perils at mucosal front lines for HIV and SIV and their hosts. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(10):783-92.

44. Centlivre M, Sala M, Wain-Hobson S, Berkhout B. In HIV-1 pathogenesis the die is cast during primary infection. AIDS. 2007;21(1):1-11.

45. Costiniuk CT, Angel JB. Human immunodeficiency virus and the gastrointestinal immune system: does highly active antiretroviral therapy restore gut immunity? Mucosal Immunol. 2012;5(6):596-604.

46. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, Asher TE, Silvestri G, Rao S, et al. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. Nat Med. 2006;12(12):1365-71.

47. Stacey AR, Norris PJ, Qin L, Haygreen EA, Taylor E, Heitman J, et al. Induction of a striking systemic cytokine cascade prior to peak viremia in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection, in contrast to more modest and delayed responses in acute hepatitis B and C virus infections. J Virol. 2009;83(8):3719-33.

48. Taiwo BO, Hicks CB. Primary human immunodeficiency virus. South Med J. 2002;95(11):1312-7.

49. Peretz Y, He Z, Shi Y, Yassine-Diab B, Goulet JP, Bordi R, et al. CD160 and PD-1 coexpression on HIV-specific CD8 T cells defines a subset with advanced dysfunction. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8(8):e1002840.

50. Arcia D, Acevedo-Saenz L, Rugeles MT, Velilla PA. Role of CD8(+) T Cells in the Selection of HIV-1 Immune Escape Mutations. Viral Immunol. 2017;30(1):3-12.

51. Mavigner M, Cazabat M, Dubois M, L'Faqihi FE, Requena M, Pasquier C, et al. Altered CD4+ T cell homing to the gut impairs mucosal immune reconstitution in treated HIV-infected individuals. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(1):62-9.

52. Yukl SA, Shergill AK, McQuaid K, Gianella S, Lampiris H, Hare CB, et al. Effect of raltegravircontaining intensification on HIV burden and T-cell activation in multiple gut sites of HIV-positive adults on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2010;24(16):2451-60.

53. Wallet MA, Rodriguez CA, Yin L, Saporta S, Chinratanapisit S, Hou W, et al. Microbial translocation induces persistent macrophage activation unrelated to HIV-1 levels or T-cell activation following therapy. AIDS. 2010;24(9):1281-90.

54. Deeks SG, Lewin SR, Havlir DV. The end of AIDS: HIV infection as a chronic disease. Lancet. 2013;382(9903):1525-33.

55. Duprez DA, Kuller LH, Tracy R, Otvos J, Cooper DA, Hoy J, et al. Lipoprotein particle subclasses, cardiovascular disease and HIV infection. Atherosclerosis. 2009;207(2):524-9.

56. Kuller LH, Tracy R, Belloso W, De Wit S, Drummond F, Lane HC, et al. Inflammatory and coagulation biomarkers and mortality in patients with HIV infection. PLoS Med. 2008;5(10):e203.

57. Sandler NG, Wand H, Roque A, Law M, Nason MC, Nixon DE, et al. Plasma levels of soluble CD14 independently predict mortality in HIV infection. J Infect Dis. 2011;203(6):780-90.

58. Presti RM, Flores SC, Palmer BE, Atkinson JJ, Lesko CR, Lau B, et al. Mechanisms Underlying HIV-Associated Noninfectious Lung Disease. Chest. 2017;152(5):1053-60.

59. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance Report, 2016. 2017;vol. 28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018.

60. Palella FJ, Jr., Baker RK, Moorman AC, Chmiel JS, Wood KC, Brooks JT, et al. Mortality in the highly active antiretroviral therapy era: changing causes of death and disease in the HIV outpatient study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2006;43(1):27-34.

61. Zaidi J, Grapsa E, Tanser F, Newell ML, Barnighausen T. Dramatic increase in HIV prevalence after scale-up of antiretroviral treatment. AIDS. 2013;27(14):2301-5.

62. Thompson MA, Aberg JA, Cahn P, Montaner JS, Rizzardini G, Telenti A, et al. Antiretroviral treatment of adult HIV infection: 2010 recommendations of the International AIDS Society-USA panel. JAMA. 2010;304(3):321-33.

63. De Luca A, Dunn D, Zazzi M, Camacho R, Torti C, Fanti I, et al. Declining prevalence of HIV-1 drug resistance in antiretroviral treatment-exposed individuals in Western Europe. J Infect Dis. 2013;207(8):1216-20.

64. Bontell I, Haggblom A, Bratt G, Albert J, Sonnerborg A. Trends in antiretroviral therapy and prevalence of HIV drug resistance mutations in Sweden 1997-2011. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59337.

65. Richman DD. HIV chemotherapy. Nature. 2001;410(6831):995-1001.

66. Spence RA, Kati WM, Anderson KS, Johnson KA. Mechanism of inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase by nonnucleoside inhibitors. Science. 1995;267(5200):988-93.

67. McColl DJ, Chen X. Strand transfer inhibitors of HIV-1 integrase: bringing IN a new era of antiretroviral therapy. Antiviral Res. 2010;85(1):101-18.

68. Ghosh AK, Osswald HL, Prato G. Recent Progress in the Development of HIV-1 Protease Inhibitors for the Treatment of HIV/AIDS. J Med Chem. 2016;59(11):5172-208.

69. Tomaras GD, Greenberg ML. Mechanisms for HIV-1 Entry: Current Strategies to Interfere with This Step. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2001;3(1):93-9.

70. Dragic T, Trkola A, Thompson DA, Cormier EG, Kajumo FA, Maxwell E, et al. A binding pocket for a small molecule inhibitor of HIV-1 entry within the transmembrane helices of CCR5. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(10):5639-44.

71. Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents Living with HIV. 2017. National Institutes of Health. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018.

72. de Pee S, Grede N, Forsythe M, Bloem MW. Antiretroviral therapy requires life-long adherence. Lancet Infect Dis. 2012;12(9):661-2; author reply 2.

73. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS). Access to Antiretroviral Therapy in Africa. 2013. UNAIDS. Web. Accessed: 01 Mar 2018.

74. Chun TW, Engel D, Berrey MM, Shea T, Corey L, Fauci AS. Early establishment of a pool of latently infected, resting CD4(+) T cells during primary HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(15):8869-73.

75. Hermankova M, Siliciano JD, Zhou Y, Monie D, Chadwick K, Margolick JB, et al. Analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gene expression in latently infected resting CD4+ T lymphocytes in vivo. J Virol. 2003;77(13):7383-92.

76. Shan L, Siliciano RF. From reactivation of latent HIV-1 to elimination of the latent reservoir: the presence of multiple barriers to viral eradication. Bioessays. 2013;35(6):544-52.

77. Lorenzo-Redondo R, Fryer HR, Bedford T, Kim EY, Archer J, Pond SLK, et al. Persistent HIV-1 replication maintains the tissue reservoir during therapy. Nature. 2016;530(7588):51-6.

78. Buzon MJ, Martin-Gayo E, Pereyra F, Ouyang Z, Sun H, Li JZ, et al. Long-term antiretroviral treatment initiated at primary HIV-1 infection affects the size, composition, and decay kinetics of the reservoir of HIV-1-infected CD4 T cells. J Virol. 2014;88(17):10056-65.

79. Grossman Z, Polis M, Feinberg MB, Grossman Z, Levi I, Jankelevich S, et al. Ongoing HIV dissemination during HAART. Nat Med. 1999;5(10):1099-104.

80. Frenkel LM, Wang Y, Learn GH, McKernan JL, Ellis GM, Mohan KM, et al. Multiple viral genetic analyses detect low-level human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication during effective highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Virol. 2003;77(10):5721-30.

81. Sigal A, Kim JT, Balazs AB, Dekel E, Mayo A, Milo R, et al. Cell-to-cell spread of HIV permits ongoing replication despite antiretroviral therapy. Nature. 2011;477(7362):95-8.

82. Dornadula G, Zhang H, VanUitert B, Stern J, Livornese L, Jr., Ingerman MJ, et al. Residual HIV-1 RNA in blood plasma of patients taking suppressive highly active antiretroviral therapy. JAMA. 1999;282(17):1627-32.

83. Palmer S, Maldarelli F, Wiegand A, Bernstein B, Hanna GJ, Brun SC, et al. Low-level viremia persists for at least 7 years in patients on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(10):3879-84.

84. Josefsson L, von Stockenstrom S, Faria NR, Sinclair E, Bacchetti P, Killian M, et al. The HIV-1 reservoir in eight patients on long-term suppressive antiretroviral therapy is stable with few genetic changes over time. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(51):E4987-96.

85. Kearney MF, Spindler J, Shao W, Yu S, Anderson EM, O'Shea A, et al. Lack of detectable HIV-1 molecular evolution during suppressive antiretroviral therapy. PLoS Pathog. 2014;10(3):e1004010.

86. Wagner TA, McLaughlin S, Garg K, Cheung CY, Larsen BB, Styrchak S, et al. HIV latency. Proliferation of cells with HIV integrated into cancer genes contributes to persistent infection. Science. 2014;345(6196):570-3.

87. Maldarelli F, Wu X, Su L, Simonetti FR, Shao W, Hill S, et al. HIV latency. Specific HIV integration sites are linked to clonal expansion and persistence of infected cells. Science. 2014;345(6193):179-83.

88. Margolis D, Bushman F. HIV/AIDS. Persistence by proliferation? Science. 2014;345(6193):143-4.

89. Keedy KS, Archin NM, Gates AT, Espeseth A, Hazuda DJ, Margolis DM. A limited group of class I histone deacetylases acts to repress human immunodeficiency virus type 1 expression. J Virol. 2009;83(10):4749-56.

90. Greger IH, Demarchi F, Giacca M, Proudfoot NJ. Transcriptional interference perturbs the binding of Sp1 to the HIV-1 promoter. Nucleic Acids Res. 1998;26(5):1294-301.

91. Lenasi T, Contreras X, Peterlin BM. Transcriptional interference antagonizes proviral gene expression to promote HIV latency. Cell Host Microbe. 2008;4(2):123-33.

92. Han Y, Lin YB, An W, Xu J, Yang HC, O'Connell K, et al. Orientation-dependent regulation of integrated HIV-1 expression by host gene transcriptional readthrough. Cell Host Microbe. 2008;4(2):134-46.

93. Donahue DA, Wainberg MA. Cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the establishment of HIV-1 latency. Retrovirology. 2013;10:11.

94. Thompson KA, Cherry CL, Bell JE, McLean CA. Brain cell reservoirs of latent virus in presymptomatic HIV-infected individuals. Am J Pathol. 2011;179(4):1623-9.

95. McElrath MJ, Smythe K, Randolph-Habecker J, Melton KR, Goodpaster TA, Hughes SM, et al. Comprehensive assessment of HIV target cells in the distal human gut suggests increasing HIV susceptibility toward the anus. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;63(3):263-71.

96. Shen R, Richter HE, Clements RH, Novak L, Huff K, Bimczok D, et al. Macrophages in vaginal but not intestinal mucosa are monocyte-like and permissive to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol. 2009;83(7):3258-67.

97. Cai Y, Sugimoto C, Arainga M, Midkiff CC, Liu DX, Alvarez X, et al. Preferential Destruction of Interstitial Macrophages over Alveolar Macrophages as a Cause of Pulmonary Disease in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Rhesus Macaques. J Immunol. 2015;195(10):4884-91.

98. Churchill MJ, Gorry PR, Cowley D, Lal L, Sonza S, Purcell DF, et al. Use of laser capture microdissection to detect integrated HIV-1 DNA in macrophages and astrocytes from autopsy brain tissues. J Neurovirol. 2006;12(2):146-52.

99. Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M. The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications. Neurobiol Dis. 2004;16(1):1-13.

100. Letendre S, Marquie-Beck J, Capparelli E, Best B, Clifford D, Collier AC, et al. Validation of the CNS Penetration-Effectiveness rank for quantifying antiretroviral penetration into the central nervous system. Arch Neurol. 2008;65(1):65-70.

101. An SF, Groves M, Gray F, Scaravilli F. Early entry and widespread cellular involvement of HIV-1 DNA in brains of HIV-1 positive asymptomatic individuals. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1999;58(11):1156-62.

102. Eden A, Fuchs D, Hagberg L, Nilsson S, Spudich S, Svennerholm B, et al. HIV-1 viral escape in cerebrospinal fluid of subjects on suppressive antiretroviral treatment. J Infect Dis. 2010;202(12):1819-25.

103. Ghosn J, Chaix ML, Peytavin G, Rey E, Bresson JL, Goujard C, et al. Penetration of enfuvirtide, tenofovir, efavirenz, and protease inhibitors in the genital tract of HIV-1-infected men. AIDS. 2004;18(14):1958-61.

104. Liuzzi G, Chirianni A, Clementi M, Bagnarelli P, Valenza A, Cataldo PT, et al. Analysis of HIV-1 load in blood, semen and saliva: evidence for different viral compartments in a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. AIDS. 1996;10(14):F51-6.

105. Lambert-Niclot S, Peytavin G, Duvivier C, Poirot C, Algarte-Genin M, Pakianather S, et al. Low frequency of intermittent HIV-1 semen excretion in patients treated with darunavir-ritonavir at 600/100 milligrams twice a day plus two nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors or monotherapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2010;54(11):4910-3.

106. Quayle AJ, Coston WM, Trocha AK, Kalams SA, Mayer KH, Anderson DJ. Detection of HIV-1-specific CTLs in the semen of HIV-infected individuals. J Immunol. 1998;161(8):4406-10.

107. Jenabian MA, Costiniuk CT, Mehraj V, Ghazawi FM, Fromentin R, Brousseau J, et al. Immune tolerance properties of the testicular tissue as a viral sanctuary site in ART-treated HIVinfected adults. AIDS. 2016;30(18):2777-86.

108. Baeten JM, Kahle E, Lingappa JR, Coombs RW, Delany-Moretlwe S, Nakku-Joloba E, et al. Genital HIV-1 RNA predicts risk of heterosexual HIV-1 transmission. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(77):77ra29.

109. Pallikkuth S, Sharkey M, Babic DZ, Gupta S, Stone GW, Fischl MA, et al. Peripheral T Follicular Helper Cells Are the Major HIV Reservoir within Central Memory CD4 T Cells in Peripheral Blood from Chronically HIV-Infected Individuals on Combination Antiretroviral Therapy. J Virol. 2015;90(6):2718-28.

110. Perreau M, Savoye AL, De Crignis E, Corpataux JM, Cubas R, Haddad EK, et al. Follicular helper T cells serve as the major CD4 T cell compartment for HIV-1 infection, replication, and production. J Exp Med. 2013;210(1):143-56.

111. Quigley MF, Gonzalez VD, Granath A, Andersson J, Sandberg JK. CXCR5+ CCR7- CD8 T cells are early effector memory cells that infiltrate tonsil B cell follicles. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37(12):3352-62.

112. Orkin SH. Development of the hematopoietic system. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 1996;6(5):597-602.

113. Orkin SH, Zon LI. Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell. 2008;132(4):631-44.

114. Ciau-Uitz A, Liu F, Patient R. Genetic control of hematopoietic development in Xenopus and zebrafish. Int J Dev Biol. 2010;54(6-7):1139-49.

115. Orkin SH. Diversification of haematopoietic stem cells to specific lineages. Nat Rev Genet.2000;1(1):57-64.

116. Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell. 1997;91(5):661-72.

117. Akashi K, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature. 2000;404(6774):193-7.

118. Mansson R, Hultquist A, Luc S, Yang L, Anderson K, Kharazi S, et al. Molecular evidence for hierarchical transcriptional lineage priming in fetal and adult stem cells and multipotent progenitors. Immunity. 2007;26(4):407-19.

119. Ciofani M, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. The thymus as an inductive site for T lymphopoiesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2007;23:463-93.

120. Scimone ML, Aifantis I, Apostolou I, von Boehmer H, von Andrian UH. A multistep adhesion cascade for lymphoid progenitor cell homing to the thymus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(18):7006-11.

121. Zlotoff DA, Sambandam A, Logan TD, Bell JJ, Schwarz BA, Bhandoola A. CCR7 and CCR9 together recruit hematopoietic progenitors to the adult thymus. Blood. 2010;115(10):1897-905.

122. Rossi FM, Corbel SY, Merzaban JS, Carlow DA, Gossens K, Duenas J, et al. Recruitment of adult thymic progenitors is regulated by P-selectin and its ligand PSGL-1. Nat Immunol. 2005;6(6):626-34.

123. Wada H, Masuda K, Satoh R, Kakugawa K, Ikawa T, Katsura Y, et al. Adult T-cell progenitors retain myeloid potential. Nature. 2008;452(7188):768-72.

124. Rothenberg EV, Moore JE, Yui MA. Launching the T-cell-lineage developmental programme. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(1):9-21.

125. Masuda K, Kakugawa K, Nakayama T, Minato N, Katsura Y, Kawamoto H. T cell lineage determination precedes the initiation of TCR beta gene rearrangement. J Immunol. 2007;179(6):3699-706.

126. Capone M, Hockett RD, Jr., Zlotnik A. Kinetics of T cell receptor beta, gamma, and delta rearrangements during adult thymic development: T cell receptor rearrangements are present in CD44(+)CD25(+) Pro-T thymocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(21):12522-7.

127. von Boehmer H. Unique features of the pre-T-cell receptor alpha-chain: not just a surrogate. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(7):571-7.

128. Carpenter AC, Bosselut R. Decision checkpoints in the thymus. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(8):666-73.

129. Ciofani M, Knowles GC, Wiest DL, von Boehmer H, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. Stage-specific and differential notch dependency at the alphabeta and gammadelta T lineage bifurcation. Immunity. 2006;25(1):105-16.

130. Porritt HE, Gordon K, Petrie HT. Kinetics of steady-state differentiation and mapping of intrathymic-signaling environments by stem cell transplantation in nonirradiated mice. J Exp Med. 2003;198(6):957-62.

131. Klein L, Hinterberger M, Wirnsberger G, Kyewski B. Antigen presentation in the thymus for positive selection and central tolerance induction. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(12):833-44.

132. Leung RK, Thomson K, Gallimore A, Jones E, Van den Broek M, Sierro S, et al. Deletion of the CD4 silencer element supports a stochastic mechanism of thymocyte lineage commitment. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(12):1167-73.

133. Adoro S, Erman B, Sarafova SD, Van Laethem F, Park JH, Feigenbaum L, et al. Targeting CD4 coreceptor expression to postselection thymocytes reveals that CD4/CD8 lineage choice is neither error-prone nor stochastic. J Immunol. 2008;181(10):6975-83.

134. Hernandez-Hoyos G, Sohn SJ, Rothenberg EV, Alberola-Ila J. Lck activity controls CD4/CD8 T cell lineage commitment. Immunity. 2000;12(3):313-22.

135. Yasutomo K, Doyle C, Miele L, Fuchs C, Germain RN. The duration of antigen receptor signalling determines CD4+ versus CD8+ T-cell lineage fate. Nature. 2000;404(6777):506-10.

136. Brugnera E, Bhandoola A, Cibotti R, Yu Q, Guinter TI, Yamashita Y, et al. Coreceptor reversal in the thymus: signaled CD4+8+ thymocytes initially terminate CD8 transcription even when differentiating into CD8+ T cells. Immunity. 2000;13(1):59-71.

137. Seder RA, Ahmed R. Similarities and differences in CD4+ and CD8+ effector and memory T cell generation. Nat Immunol. 2003;4(9):835-42.

138. Youngblood B, Hale JS, Ahmed R. T-cell memory differentiation: insights from transcriptional signatures and epigenetics. Immunology. 2013;139(3):277-84.

139. McKinstry KK, Strutt TM, Swain SL. The potential of CD4 T-cell memory. Immunology. 2010;130(1):1-9.

140. Carbone FR, Mackay LK, Heath WR, Gebhardt T. Distinct resident and recirculating memory T cell subsets in non-lymphoid tissues. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013;25(3):329-33.

141. Sallusto F, Lenig D, Forster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature. 1999;401(6754):708-12.

142. Song K, Rabin RL, Hill BJ, De Rosa SC, Perfetto SP, Zhang HH, et al. Characterization of subsets of CD4+ memory T cells reveals early branched pathways of T cell differentiation in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(22):7916-21.

143. Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A human memory T cell subset with stem cell-like properties. Nat Med. 2011;17(10):1290-7.

144. Farber DL, Yudanin NA, Restifo NP. Human memory T cells: generation, compartmentalization and homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(1):24-35.

145. Lee GQ, Lichterfeld M. Diversity of HIV-1 reservoirs in CD4+ T-cell subpopulations. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2016;11(4):383-7.

146. Fonseca SG, Procopio FA, Goulet JP, Yassine-Diab B, Ancuta P, Sekaly RP. Unique features of memory T cells in HIV elite controllers: a systems biology perspective. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2011;6(3):188-96. A license to reproduce table 1 was granted by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.

147. Strutt TM, McKinstry KK, Dibble JP, Winchell C, Kuang Y, Curtis JD, et al. Memory CD4+ T cells induce innate responses independently of pathogen. Nat Med. 2010;16(5):558-64, 1p following 64.

148. Chapman TJ, Lambert K, Topham DJ. Rapid reactivation of extralymphoid CD4 T cells during secondary infection. PLoS One. 2011;6(5):e20493.

149. Langland JO, Cameron JM, Heck MC, Jancovich JK, Jacobs BL. Inhibition of PKR by RNA and DNA viruses. Virus Res. 2006;119(1):100-10.

150. MacLeod MK, David A, McKee AS, Crawford F, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Memory CD4 T cells that express CXCR5 provide accelerated help to B cells. J Immunol. 2011;186(5):2889-96.

151. Okoye AA, Picker LJ. CD4(+) T-cell depletion in HIV infection: mechanisms of immunological failure. Immunol Rev. 2013;254(1):54-64.

152. Doitsh G, Greene WC. Dissecting How CD4 T Cells Are Lost During HIV Infection. Cell Host Microbe. 2016;19(3):280-91.

153. Douek DC, Brenchley JM, Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Hill BJ, Okamoto Y, et al. HIV preferentially infects HIV-specific CD4+ T cells. Nature. 2002;417(6884):95-8.

154. Demoustier A, Gubler B, Lambotte O, de Goer MG, Wallon C, Goujard C, et al. In patients on prolonged HAART, a significant pool of HIV infected CD4 T cells are HIV-specific. AIDS. 2002;16(13):1749-54.

155. Brenchley JM, Hill BJ, Ambrozak DR, Price DA, Guenaga FJ, Casazza JP, et al. T-cell subsets that harbor human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in vivo: implications for HIV pathogenesis. J Virol. 2004;78(3):1160-8.

156. Korin YD, Zack JA. Progression to the G1b phase of the cell cycle is required for completion of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription in T cells. J Virol. 1998;72(4):31618.

157. Bleul CC, Wu L, Hoxie JA, Springer TA, Mackay CR. The HIV coreceptors CXCR4 and CCR5 are differentially expressed and regulated on human T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(5):1925-30.

158. Mo H, Monard S, Pollack H, Ip J, Rochford G, Wu L, et al. Expression patterns of the HIV type 1 coreceptors CCR5 and CXCR4 on CD4+ T cells and monocytes from cord and adult blood. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 1998;14(7):607-17.

159. Lee B, Sharron M, Montaner LJ, Weissman D, Doms RW. Quantification of CD4, CCR5, and CXCR4 levels on lymphocyte subsets, dendritic cells, and differentially conditioned monocyte-derived macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(9):5215-20.

160. Groot F, van Capel TM, Schuitemaker J, Berkhout B, de Jong EC. Differential susceptibility of naive, central memory and effector memory T cells to dendritic cell-mediated HIV-1 transmission. Retrovirology. 2006;3:52.

161. Pfaff JM, Wilen CB, Harrison JE, Demarest JF, Lee B, Doms RW, et al. HIV-1 resistance to CCR5 antagonists associated with highly efficient use of CCR5 and altered tropism on primary CD4+ T cells. J Virol. 2010;84(13):6505-14.

162. Chun TW, Carruth L, Finzi D, Shen X, DiGiuseppe JA, Taylor H, et al. Quantification of latent tissue reservoirs and total body viral load in HIV-1 infection. Nature. 1997;387(6629):183-8.

163. Archin NM, Vaidya NK, Kuruc JD, Liberty AL, Wiegand A, Kearney MF, et al. Immediate antiviral therapy appears to restrict resting CD4+ cell HIV-1 infection without accelerating the decay of latent infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(24):9523-8.

164. Finzi D, Blankson J, Siliciano JD, Margolick JB, Chadwick K, Pierson T, et al. Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. Nat Med. 1999;5(5):512-7.

165. Grau-Exposito J, Serra-Peinado C, Miguel L, Navarro J, Curran A, Burgos J, et al. A Novel Single-Cell FISH-Flow Assay Identifies Effector Memory CD4(+) T cells as a Major Niche for HIV-1 Transcription in HIV-Infected Patients. MBio. 2017;8(4).

166. Hiener B, Horsburgh BA, Eden JS, Barton K, Schlub TE, Lee E, et al. Identification of Genetically Intact HIV-1 Proviruses in Specific CD4(+) T Cells from Effectively Treated Participants. Cell Rep. 2017;21(3):813-22.

167. Gosselin A, Monteiro P, Chomont N, Diaz-Griffero F, Said EA, Fonseca S, et al. Peripheral blood CCR4+CCR6+ and CXCR3+CCR6+CD4+ T cells are highly permissive to HIV-1 infection. J Immunol. 2010;184(3):1604-16.

168. Bernier A, Cleret-Buhot A, Zhang Y, Goulet JP, Monteiro P, Gosselin A, et al. Transcriptional profiling reveals molecular signatures associated with HIV permissiveness in Th1Th17 cells and identifies peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma as an intrinsic negative regulator of viral replication. Retrovirology. 2013;10:160.

169. Monteiro P, Gosselin A, Wacleche VS, El-Far M, Said EA, Kared H, et al. Memory CCR6+CD4+ T cells are preferential targets for productive HIV type 1 infection regardless of their expression of integrin beta7. J Immunol. 2011;186(8):4618-30.

170. Gosselin A, Wiche Salinas TR, Planas D, Wacleche VS, Zhang Y, Fromentin R, et al. HIV persists in CCR6+CD4+ T cells from colon and blood during antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2017;31(1):35-48.

171. Sun H, Kim D, Li X, Kiselinova M, Ouyang Z, Vandekerckhove L, et al. Th1/17 Polarization of CD4 T Cells Supports HIV-1 Persistence during Antiretroviral Therapy. J Virol. 2015;89(22):11284-93.

172. Khoury G, Anderson JL, Fromentin R, Hartogenesis W, Smith MZ, Bacchetti P, et al. Persistence of integrated HIV DNA in CXCR3 + CCR6 + memory CD4+ T cells in HIV-infected individuals on antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2016;30(10):1511-20.

173. Wacleche VS, Goulet JP, Gosselin A, Monteiro P, Soudeyns H, Fromentin R, et al. New insights into the heterogeneity of Th17 subsets contributing to HIV-1 persistence during antiretroviral therapy. Retrovirology. 2016;13(1):59.

174. Sundaravaradan V, Mir KD, Sodora DL. Double-negative T cells during HIV/SIV infections: potential pinch hitters in the T-cell lineup. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2012;7(2):164-71.

175. Hayes SM, Li L, Love PE. TCR signal strength influences alphabeta/gammadelta lineage fate. Immunity. 2005;22(5):583-93.

176. Liu CP, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Thymocytes can become mature T cells without passing through the CD4+ CD8+, double-positive stage. J Exp Med. 1996;184(5):1619-30.

177. Wang R, Wang-Zhu Y, Grey H. Interactions between double positive thymocytes and high affinity ligands presented by cortical epithelial cells generate double negative thymocytes with T cell regulatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(4):2181-6.

178. Beaumier CM, Harris LD, Goldstein S, Klatt NR, Whitted S, McGinty J, et al. CD4 downregulation by memory CD4+ T cells in vivo renders African green monkeys resistant to progressive SIVagm infection. Nat Med. 2009;15(8):879-85.

179. Chen BK, Gandhi RT, Baltimore D. CD4 down-modulation during infection of human T cells with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 involves independent activities of vpu, env, and nef. J Virol. 1996;70(9):6044-53.

180. Crise B, Buonocore L, Rose JK. CD4 is retained in the endoplasmic reticulum by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein precursor. J Virol. 1990;64(11):5585-93.

181. Binette J, Dube M, Mercier J, Halawani D, Latterich M, Cohen EA. Requirements for the selective degradation of CD4 receptor molecules by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. Retrovirology. 2007;4:75.

182. Willey RL, Maldarelli F, Martin MA, Strebel K. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein regulates the formation of intracellular gp160-CD4 complexes. J Virol. 1992;66(1):226-34.

183. Rhee SS, Marsh JW. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef-induced downmodulation of CD4 is due to rapid internalization and degradation of surface CD4. J Virol. 1994;68(8):5156-63.

184. Lindwasser OW, Chaudhuri R, Bonifacino JS. Mechanisms of CD4 downregulation by the Nef and Vpu proteins of primate immunodeficiency viruses. Curr Mol Med. 2007;7(2):171-84.

185. Moreau JF, Taupin JL, Dupon M, Carron JC, Ragnaud JM, Marimoutou C, et al. Increases in CD3+CD4-CD8- T lymphocytes in AIDS patients with disseminated Mycobacterium aviumintracellulare complex infection. J Infect Dis. 1996;174(5):969-76.

186. Pellegrin JL, Taupin JL, Dupon M, Ragnaud JM, Maugein J, Bonneville M, et al. Gammadelta T cells increase with Mycobacterium avium complex infection but not with tuberculosis in AIDS patients. Int Immunol. 1999;11(9):1475-8.

187. Marodon G, Warren D, Filomio MC, Posnett DN. Productive infection of double-negative T cells with HIV in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(21):11958-63.

188. Singleterry WL, Henderson H, Cruse JM. Depletion of pro-inflammatory CD161(+) double negative (CD3(+)CD4(-)CD8(-)) T cells in AIDS patients is ameliorated by expansion of the gammadelta T cell population. Exp Mol Pathol. 2012;92(1):155-9.

189. Juno JA, Lajoie J, Stalker AT, Oyugi J, Kimani M, Kimani J, et al. Enrichment of LAG-3, but not PD-1, on double negative T cells at the female genital tract. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2014;72(6):534-40.

190. Liang Q, Jiao Y, Zhang T, Wang R, Li W, Zhang H, et al. Double Negative (DN) [CD3(+)CD4(-)CD8(-)] T cells correlate with disease progression during HIV infection. Immunol Invest. 2013;42(5):431-7.

191. Lu X, Su B, Xia H, Zhang X, Liu Z, Ji Y, et al. Low Double-Negative CD3(+)CD4(-)CD8(-) T Cells Are Associated with Incomplete Restoration of CD4(+) T Cells and Higher Immune Activation in HIV-1 Immunological Non-Responders. Front Immunol. 2016;7:579.

192. Petitjean G, Chevalier MF, Tibaoui F, Didier C, Manea ME, Liovat AS, et al. Level of double negative T cells, which produce TGF-beta and IL-10, predicts CD8 T-cell activation in primary HIV-1 infection. AIDS. 2012;26(2):139-48.

193. Restrepo C, Rallon NI, del Romero J, Rodriguez C, Sempere-Ortells JM, de la Vega E, et al. HIV Gag-specific immune response mediated by double negative (CD3(+)CD4(-)CD8(-)) T cells in HIV-exposed seronegative individuals. J Med Virol. 2013;85(2):200-9.

194. Kaiser P, Joos B, Niederost B, Weber R, Gunthard HF, Fischer M. Productive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in peripheral blood predominantly takes place in CD4/CD8 double-negative T lymphocytes. J Virol. 2007;81(18):9693-706.

195. Meng Q, Canaday DH, McDonald DJ, Mayanja-Kizza H, Baseke J, Toossi Z. Productive HIV-1 infection is enriched in CD4(-)CD8(-) double negative (DN) T cells at pleural sites of dual infection with HIV and Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Arch Virol. 2016;161(1):181-7.

196. Cheney KM, Kumar R, Purins A, Mundy L, Ferguson W, Shaw D, et al. HIV type 1 persistence in CD4- /CD8- double negative T cells from patients on antiretroviral therapy. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2006;22(1):66-75.

197. DeMaster LK, Liu X, VanBelzen DJ, Trinite B, Zheng L, Agosto LM, et al. A Subset of CD4/CD8 Double-Negative T Cells Expresses HIV Proteins in Patients on Antiretroviral Therapy. J Virol. 2015;90(5):2165-79.

198. Descours B, Petitjean G, Lopez-Zaragoza JL, Bruel T, Raffel R, Psomas C, et al. CD32a is a marker of a CD4 T-cell HIV reservoir harbouring replication-competent proviruses. Nature. 2017;543(7646):564-7.

199. Wittner M, Dunay GA, Kummer S, Bockhorn M, Hufner A, Schmiedel S, et al. CD32 Expression of Different Memory T Cell Subpopulations in the Blood and Lymph Nodal Tissue of HIV Patients and Healthy Controls Correlates With Immune Activation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;77(4):345-9.

200. French MA, King MS, Tschampa JM, da Silva BA, Landay AL. Serum immune activation markers are persistently increased in patients with HIV infection after 6 years of antiretroviral therapy despite suppression of viral replication and reconstitution of CD4+ T cells. J Infect Dis. 2009;200(8):1212-5.

201. Lederman MM, Calabrese L, Funderburg NT, Clagett B, Medvik K, Bonilla H, et al. Immunologic failure despite suppressive antiretroviral therapy is related to activation and turnover of memory CD4 cells. J Infect Dis. 2011;204(8):1217-26.

202. Hatano H, Jain V, Hunt PW, Lee TH, Sinclair E, Do TD, et al. Cell-based measures of viral persistence are associated with immune activation and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1)-expressing CD4+ T cells. J Infect Dis. 2013;208(1):50-6.

203. Paiardini M, Muller-Trutwin M. HIV-associated chronic immune activation. Immunol Rev.2013;254(1):78-101.

204. Giorgi JV, Detels R. T-cell subset alterations in HIV-infected homosexual men: NIAID Multicenter AIDS cohort study. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1989;52(1):10-8.

205. Deeks SG, Kitchen CM, Liu L, Guo H, Gascon R, Narvaez AB, et al. Immune activation set point during early HIV infection predicts subsequent CD4+ T-cell changes independent of viral load. Blood. 2004;104(4):942-7.

206. Lawn SD, Butera ST, Folks TM. Contribution of immune activation to the pathogenesis and transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2001;14(4):753-77, table of contents.

207. Beignon AS, McKenna K, Skoberne M, Manches O, DaSilva I, Kavanagh DG, et al. Endocytosis of HIV-1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells via Toll-like receptor-viral RNA interactions. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(11):3265-75.

208. Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Ruff LE, Price DA, Taylor JH, Beilman GJ, et al. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med. 2004;200(6):749-59.

209. Kovacs A, Al-Harthi L, Christensen S, Mack W, Cohen M, Landay A. CD8(+) T cell activation in women coinfected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and hepatitis C virus. J Infect Dis. 2008;197(10):1402-7.

210. Masia M, Robledano C, Ortiz de la Tabla V, Antequera P, Lumbreras B, Hernandez I, et al. Coinfection with human herpesvirus 8 is associated with persistent inflammation and immune activation in virologically suppressed HIV-infected patients. PLoS One. 2014;9(8):e105442.

211. Effros RB, Cai Z, Linton PJ. CD8 T cells and aging. Crit Rev Immunol. 2003;23(1-2):45-64.

212. Deeks SG. HIV: How to escape treatment. Nature. 2011;477(7362):36-7.

213. Kanwar B, Favre D, McCune JM. Th17 and regulatory T cells: implications for AIDS pathogenesis. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2010;5(2):151-7.

214. Tsoukas C. Immunosenescence and aging in HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2014;9(4):398-404.

215. Appay V, Rowland-Jones SL. Premature ageing of the immune system: the cause of AIDS? Trends Immunol. 2002;23(12):580-5.

216. Effros RB, Allsopp R, Chiu CP, Hausner MA, Hirji K, Wang L, et al. Shortened telomeres in the expanded CD28-CD8+ cell subset in HIV disease implicate replicative senescence in HIV pathogenesis. AIDS. 1996;10(8):F17-22.

217. Papagno L, Spina CA, Marchant A, Salio M, Rufer N, Little S, et al. Immune activation and CD8+ T-cell differentiation towards senescence in HIV-1 infection. PLoS Biol. 2004;2(2):E20.

218. Brenchley JM, Karandikar NJ, Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Hill BJ, Crotty LE, et al. Expression of CD57 defines replicative senescence and antigen-induced apoptotic death of CD8+ T cells. Blood. 2003;101(7):2711-20.

219. Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature. 2006;439(7077):682-7.

220. Day CL, Kaufmann DE, Kiepiela P, Brown JA, Moodley ES, Reddy S, et al. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. Nature. 2006;443(7109):350-4.

221. Fromentin R, Bakeman W, Lawani MB, Khoury G, Hartogensis W, DaFonseca S, et al. CD4+
T Cells Expressing PD-1, TIGIT and LAG-3 Contribute to HIV Persistence during ART. PLoS Pathog.
2016;12(7):e1005761.

222. Sato S, Kiyono H. The mucosal immune system of the respiratory tract. Curr Opin Virol. 2012;2(3):225-32.

223. Chilvers MA, O'Callaghan C. Local mucociliary defence mechanisms. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2000;1(1):27-34.

224. Bartlett JA, Fischer AJ, McCray PB, Jr. Innate immune functions of the airway epithelium. Contrib Microbiol. 2008;15:147-63.

225. Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. Dendritic cells and epithelial cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity in asthma. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(3):193-204.

226. Bals R, Hiemstra PS. Innate immunity in the lung: how epithelial cells fight against respiratory pathogens. Eur Respir J. 2004;23(2):327-33.

227. Condon TV, Sawyer RT, Fenton MJ, Riches DW. Lung dendritic cells at the innate-adaptive immune interface. J Leukoc Biol. 2011;90(5):883-95.

228. von Garnier C, Nicod LP. Immunology taught by lung dendritic cells. Swiss Med Wkly. 2009;139(13-14):186-92.

229. Kopf M, Schneider C, Nobs SP. The development and function of lung-resident macrophages and dendritic cells. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(1):36-44.

230. Byrne AJ, Mathie SA, Gregory LG, Lloyd CM. Pulmonary macrophages: key players in the innate defence of the airways. Thorax. 2015;70(12):1189-96.

231. Morales-Nebreda L, Misharin AV, Perlman H, Budinger GR. The heterogeneity of lung macrophages in the susceptibility to disease. Eur Respir Rev. 2015;24(137):505-9.

232. Hussell T, Bell TJ. Alveolar macrophages: plasticity in a tissue-specific context. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(2):81-93.

233. Gonzalez-Navajas JM, Lee J, David M, Raz E. Immunomodulatory functions of type I interferons. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(2):125-35.

234. Kohlmeier JE, Cookenham T, Roberts AD, Miller SC, Woodland DL. Type I interferons regulate cytolytic activity of memory CD8(+) T cells in the lung airways during respiratory virus challenge. Immunity. 2010;33(1):96-105.

235. Zhao Y, Zhang YH, Denney L, Young D, Powell TJ, Peng YC, et al. High levels of virus-specific CD4+ T cells predict severe pandemic influenza A virus infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186(12):1292-7.

236. Heidema J, Rossen JW, Lukens MV, Ketel MS, Scheltens E, Kranendonk ME, et al. Dynamics of human respiratory virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses in blood and airways during episodes of common cold. J Immunol. 2008;181(8):5551-9.

237. Teijaro JR, Turner D, Pham Q, Wherry EJ, Lefrancois L, Farber DL. Cutting edge: Tissueretentive lung memory CD4 T cells mediate optimal protection to respiratory virus infection. J Immunol. 2011;187(11):5510-4.

238. Kunisaki KM. Will expanded ART use reduce the burden of HIV-associated chronic lung disease? Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2014;9(1):27-33.

239. Hirani A, Cavallazzi R, Vasu T, Pachinburavan M, Kraft WK, Leiby B, et al. Prevalence of obstructive lung disease in HIV population: a cross sectional study. Respir Med. 2011;105(11):1655-61.

240. Feikin DR, Feldman C, Schuchat A, Janoff EN. Global strategies to prevent bacterial pneumonia in adults with HIV disease. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2004;4(7):445-55.

241. Klein MB, Lu Y, DelBalso L, Cote S, Boivin G. Influenzavirus infection is a primary cause of febrile respiratory illness in HIV-infected adults, despite vaccination. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2007;45(2):234-40.

242. Girardi E, Sabin CA, d'Arminio Monforte A, Hogg B, Phillips AN, Gill MJ, et al. Incidence of Tuberculosis among HIV-infected patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy in Europe and North America. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2005;41(12):1772-82.

243. Mannino DM, Homa DM, Akinbami LJ, Ford ES, Redd SC. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease surveillance--United States, 1971-2000. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2002;51(6):1-16.

244. Marshall MM, McCormack MC, Kirk GD. Effect of cigarette smoking on HIV acquisition, progression, and mortality. AIDS Educ Prev. 2009;21(3 Suppl):28-39.

245. Monforte A, Abrams D, Pradier C, Weber R, Reiss P, Bonnet F, et al. HIV-induced immunodeficiency and mortality from AIDS-defining and non-AIDS-defining malignancies. AIDS. 2008;22(16):2143-53.

246. Thomassen MJ, Barna BP, Wiedemann HP, Farmer M, Ahmad M. Human alveolar macrophage function: differences between smokers and nonsmokers. J Leukoc Biol. 1988;44(5):313-8.

247. Twigg HL, 3rd, Soliman DM. Role of alveolar macrophage-T cell adherence in accessory cell function in human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1994;11(2):138-46.

248. Abbud RA, Finegan CK, Guay LA, Rich EA. Enhanced production of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by in vitro-infected alveolar macrophages from otherwise healthy cigarette smokers. J Infect Dis. 1995;172(3):859-63.

249. Clarke JR, Mitchell DM, Coker RJ, Israel-Biet D. Is the lung important as a privileged site for the human immunodeficiency virus? Thorax. 1998;53(2):81-2.

250. Hasenberg M, Stegemann-Koniszewski S, Gunzer M. Cellular immune reactions in the lung. Immunol Rev. 2013;251(1):189-214.

251. Stevenson M, Gendelman HE. Cellular and viral determinants that regulate HIV-1 infection in macrophages. J Leukoc Biol. 1994;56(3):278-88.

252. Bohnet S, Braun J, Dalhoff K. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) is upregulated on alveolar macrophages from AIDS patients. Eur Respir J. 1994;7(2):229-34.

253. Agostini C, Trentin L, Zambello R, Bulian P, Caenazzo C, Cipriani A, et al. Release of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by alveolar macrophages in the lung of HIV-1-infected patients. A mechanism accounting for macrophage and neutrophil accumulation. J Immunol. 1992;149(10):3379-85.

254. Tavares Marques MA, Alves V, Duque V, Botelho MF. [Deep lung--cellular reaction to HIV]. Rev Port Pneumol. 2007;13(2):175-212.

255. Gartner S, Markovits P, Markovitz DM, Kaplan MH, Gallo RC, Popovic M. The role of mononuclear phagocytes in HTLV-III/LAV infection. Science. 1986;233(4760):215-9.

256. Fuller CL, Choi YK, Fallert BA, Capuano S, 3rd, Rajakumar P, Murphey-Corb M, et al. Restricted SIV replication in rhesus macaque lung tissues during the acute phase of infection. Am J Pathol. 2002;161(3):969-78.

257. Barber SA, Gama L, Li M, Voelker T, Anderson JE, Zink MC, et al. Longitudinal analysis of simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) replication in the lungs: compartmentalized regulation of SIV. J Infect Dis. 2006;194(7):931-8.

258. Moniuszko M, Bogdan D, Pal R, Venzon D, Stevceva L, Nacsa J, et al. Correlation between viral RNA levels but not immune responses in plasma and tissues of macaques with long-standing SIVmac251 infection. Virology. 2005;333(1):159-68.

259. Misharin AV, Scott Budinger GR, Perlman H. The lung macrophage: a Jack of all trades. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184(5):497-8.

260. Avalos CR, Price SL, Forsyth ER, Pin JN, Shirk EN, Bullock BT, et al. Quantitation of Productively Infected Monocytes and Macrophages of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Macaques. J Virol. 2016;90(12):5643-56.

261. Li Y, Kang G, Duan L, Lu W, Katze MG, Lewis MG, et al. SIV Infection of Lung Macrophages. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0125500.

262. Autran B, Mayaud CM, Raphael M, Plata F, Denis M, Bourguin A, et al. Evidence for a cytotoxic T-lymphocyte alveolitis in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. AIDS. 1988;2(3):179-83.

263. Autran B, Plata F, Guillon JM, Joly P, Mayaud C, Debre P. HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes directed against alveolar macrophages in HIV-infected patients. Res Virol. 1990;141(2):131-6.

264. Autran B, Sadat-Sowti B, Hadida F, Parrot A, Guillon JM, Plata F, et al. HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes against alveolar macrophages: specificities and downregulation. Res Virol. 1991;142(2-3):113-8.

265. Guillon JM, Autran B, Denis M, Fouret P, Plata F, Mayaud CM, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus-related lymphocytic alveolitis. Chest. 1988;94(6):1264-70.

266. Plata F, Autran B, Martins LP, Wain-Hobson S, Raphael M, Mayaud C, et al. AIDS virusspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in lung disorders. Nature. 1987;328(6128):348-51.

267. Beck JM. Abnormalities in host defense associated with HIV infection. Clin Chest Med. 2013;34(2):143-53.

268. Yearsley MM, Diaz PT, Knoell D, Nuovo GJ. Correlation of HIV-1 detection and histology in AIDS-associated emphysema. Diagn Mol Pathol. 2005;14(1):48-52.

269. Neff CP, Chain JL, MaWhinney S, Martin AK, Linderman DJ, Flores SC, et al. Lymphocytic alveolitis is associated with the accumulation of functionally impaired HIV-specific T cells in the lung of antiretroviral therapy-naive subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191(4):464-73.

270. Rubbo PA, Tuaillon E, Bollore K, Foulongne V, Bourdin A, Nagot N, et al. The potential impact of CD4+ T cell activation and enhanced Th1/Th2 cytokine ratio on HIV-1 secretion in the lungs of individuals with advanced AIDS and active pulmonary infection. Clin Immunol. 2011;139(2):142-54.

271. Jambo KC, Sepako E, Fullerton DG, Mzinza D, Glennie S, Wright AK, et al. Bronchoalveolar CD4+ T cell responses to respiratory antigens are impaired in HIV-infected adults. Thorax. 2011;66(5):375-82.

272. Agostini C, Semenzato G. Immunologic effects of HIV in the lung. Clin Chest Med. 1996;17(4):633-45.

273. Young KR, Jr., Rankin JA, Naegel GP, Paul ES, Reynolds HY. Bronchoalveolar lavage cells and proteins in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. An immunologic analysis. Ann Intern Med. 1985;103(4):522-33.

274. Twigg HL, 3rd, Spain BA, Soliman DM, Bowen LK, Heidler KM, Wilkes DS. Impaired IgG production in the lungs of HIV-infected individuals. Cell Immunol. 1996;170(1):127-33.

275. Plouffe JF, Breiman RF, Facklam RR. Bacteremia with Streptococcus pneumoniae. Implications for therapy and prevention. Franklin County Pneumonia Study Group. JAMA. 1996;275(3):194-8.

276. Janoff EN, Breiman RF, Daley CL, Hopewell PC. Pneumococcal disease during HIV infection. Epidemiologic, clinical, and immunologic perspectives. Ann Intern Med. 1992;117(4):314-24.

277. Jambo KC, Banda DH, Kankwatira AM, Sukumar N, Allain TJ, Heyderman RS, et al. Small alveolar macrophages are infected preferentially by HIV and exhibit impaired phagocytic function. Mucosal Immunol. 2014;7(5):1116-26.

278. Charles TP, Shellito JE. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection and Host Defense in the Lungs. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;37(2):147-56.

279. Morris A, Paulson JN, Talukder H, Tipton L, Kling H, Cui L, et al. Longitudinal analysis of the lung microbiota of cynomolgous macaques during long-term SHIV infection. Microbiome. 2016;4(1):38.

280. Reimann KA, Parker RA, Seaman MS, Beaudry K, Beddall M, Peterson L, et al. Pathogenicity of simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIV-89.6P and SIVmac is attenuated in cynomolgus macaques and associated with early T-lymphocyte responses. J Virol. 2005;79(14):8878-85.

281. Cribbs SK, Park Y, Guidot DM, Martin GS, Brown LA, Lennox J, et al. Metabolomics of bronchoalveolar lavage differentiate healthy HIV-1-infected subjects from controls. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2014;30(6):579-85.

282. Iwai S, Huang D, Fong S, Jarlsberg LG, Worodria W, Yoo S, et al. The lung microbiome of Ugandan HIV-infected pneumonia patients is compositionally and functionally distinct from that of San Franciscan patients. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e95726.

283. Lozupone C, Cota-Gomez A, Palmer BE, Linderman DJ, Charlson ES, Sodergren E, et al. Widespread colonization of the lung by Tropheryma whipplei in HIV infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187(10):1110-7. 284. Rando RF, Srinivasan A, Feingold J, Gonczol E, Plotkin S. Characterization of multiple molecular interactions between human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). Virology. 1990;176(1):87-97.

285. Israel-Biet D, Cadranel J, Even P. Human immunodeficiency virus production by alveolar lymphocytes is increased during Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993;148(5):1308-12.

286. Nakata K, Rom WN, Honda Y, Condos R, Kanegasaki S, Cao Y, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis enhances human immunodeficiency virus-1 replication in the lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997;155(3):996-1003.

287. Zhang Y, Nakata K, Weiden M, Rom WN. Mycobacterium tuberculosis enhances human immunodeficiency virus-1 replication by transcriptional activation at the long terminal repeat. J Clin Invest. 1995;95(5):2324-31.

288. Clarke JR, Israel-Biet D. Interactions between opportunistic micro-organisms and HIV in the lung. Thorax. 1996;51(9):875-77.

289. Lebargy F, Branellec A, Deforges L, Bignon J, Bernaudin JF. HIV-1 in human alveolar macrophages from infected patients is latent in vivo but replicates after in vitro stimulation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1994;10(1):72-8.

290. Marchetti G, Cozzi-Lepri A, Merlini E, Bellistri GM, Castagna A, Galli M, et al. Microbial translocation predicts disease progression of HIV-infected antiretroviral-naive patients with high CD4+ cell count. AIDS. 2011;25(11):1385-94.

291. Kadoki M, Choi BI, Iwakura Y. The mechanism of LPS-induced HIV type I activation in transgenic mouse macrophages. Int Immunol. 2010;22(6):469-78.

292. Ablashi DV, Bernbaum J, DiPaolo JA. Human herpesvirus 6 as a potential copathogen. Trends Microbiol. 1995;3(8):324-7.

293. leong MH, Reardon CC, Levitz SM, Kornfeld H. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of alveolar macrophages impairs their innate fungicidal activity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;162(3 Pt 1):966-70.

294. Gordon SB, Jarman ER, Kanyanda S, French N, Pridmore AC, Zijlstra EE, et al. Reduced interleukin-8 response to Streptococcus pneumoniae by alveolar macrophages from adults with HIV/AIDS. AIDS. 2005;19(11):1197-200.

295. Corbett EL, Watt CJ, Walker N, Maher D, Williams BG, Raviglione MC, et al. The growing burden of tuberculosis: global trends and interactions with the HIV epidemic. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163(9):1009-21.

296. Rosas-Taraco AG, Arce-Mendoza AY, Caballero-Olin G, Salinas-Carmona MC. Mycobacterium tuberculosis upregulates coreceptors CCR5 and CXCR4 while HIV modulates CD14 favoring concurrent infection. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2006;22(1):45-51.

297. Collins KR, Quinones-Mateu ME, Wu M, Luzze H, Johnson JL, Hirsch C, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) quasispecies at the sites of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection contribute to systemic HIV-1 heterogeneity. J Virol. 2002;76(4):1697-706.

298. Ives NJ, Gazzard BG, Easterbrook PJ. The changing pattern of AIDS-defining illnesses with the introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART)in a London clinic. J Infect. 2001;42(2):134-9.

299. Kohli R, Lo Y, Homel P, Flanigan TP, Gardner LI, Howard AA, et al. Bacterial pneumonia, HIV therapy, and disease progression among HIV-infected women in the HIV epidemiologic research (HER) study. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;43(1):90-8.

300. Twigg Iii HL, Weiden M, Valentine F, Schnizlein-Bick CT, Bassett R, Zheng L, et al. Effect of highly active antiretroviral therapy on viral burden in the lungs of HIV-infected subjects. J Infect Dis. 2008;197(1):109-16.

301. Cribbs SK, Lennox J, Caliendo AM, Brown LA, Guidot DM. Healthy HIV-1-infected individuals on highly active antiretroviral therapy harbor HIV-1 in their alveolar macrophages. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2015;31(1):64-70.

302. Torre D, Speranza F, Martegani R. Impact of highly active antiretroviral therapy on organspecific manifestations of HIV-1 infection. HIV Med. 2005;6(2):66-78.

303. Knox KS, Vinton C, Hage CA, Kohli LM, Twigg HL, 3rd, Klatt NR, et al. Reconstitution of CD4 T cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid after initiation of highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Virol. 2010;84(18):9010-8.
304. White NC, Israel-Biet D, Coker RJ, Mitchell DM, Weber JN, Clarke JR. Different resistance mutations can be detected simultaneously in the blood and the lung of HIV-1 infected individuals on antiretroviral therapy. J Med Virol. 2004;72(3):352-7.

305. Horiike M, Iwami S, Kodama M, Sato A, Watanabe Y, Yasui M, et al. Lymph nodes harbor viral reservoirs that cause rebound of plasma viremia in SIV-infected macaques upon cessation of combined antiretroviral therapy. Virology. 2012;423(2):107-18.

306. Santangelo PJ, Rogers KA, Zurla C, Blanchard EL, Gumber S, Strait K, et al. Whole-body immunoPET reveals active SIV dynamics in viremic and antiretroviral therapy-treated macaques. Nat Methods. 2015;12(5):427-32.

307. Itescu S, Simonelli PF, Winchester RJ, Ginsberg HS. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 strains in the lungs of infected individuals evolve independently from those in peripheral blood and are highly conserved in the C-terminal region of the envelope V3 loop. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(24):11378-82.

308. Nakata K, Weiden M, Harkin T, Ho D, Rom WN. Low copy number and limited variability of proviral DNA in alveolar macrophages from HIV-1-infected patients: evidence for genetic differences in HIV-1 between lung and blood macrophage populations. Mol Med. 1995;1(7):744-57.

309. Singh A, Besson G, Mobasher A, Collman RG. Patterns of chemokine receptor fusion cofactor utilization by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants from the lungs and blood. J Virol. 1999;73(8):6680-90.

310. Twigg HL, Schnizlein-Bick CT, Weiden M, Valentine F, Wheat J, Day RB, et al. Measurement of antiretroviral drugs in the lungs of HIV-infected patients. HIV Ther. 2010;4(2):247-51.

311. Vandergeeten C, Fromentin R, Merlini E, Lawani MB, DaFonseca S, Bakeman W, et al. Cross-clade ultrasensitive PCR-based assays to measure HIV persistence in large-cohort studies. J Virol. 2014;88(21):12385-96.

312. Vandergeeten C, Fromentin R, DaFonseca S, Lawani MB, Sereti I, Lederman MM, et al. Interleukin-7 promotes HIV persistence during antiretroviral therapy. Blood. 2013;121(21):4321-9. 313. Besson GJ, Lalama CM, Bosch RJ, Gandhi RT, Bedison MA, Aga E, et al. HIV-1 DNA decay dynamics in blood during more than a decade of suppressive antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(9):1312-21.

314. Grau-Exposito J, Serra-Peinado C, Miguel L, Navarro J, Curran A, Burgos J, et al. A Novel Single-Cell FISH-Flow Assay Identifies Effector Memory CD4+ T cells as a Major Niche for HIV-1 Transcription in HIV-Infected Patients. MBio. 2017;8(4).

315. Hiener B, Horsburgh BA, Eden JS, Barton K, Schlub TE, Lee E, et al. Identification of Genetically Intact HIV-1 Proviruses in Specific CD4+ T Cells from Effectively Treated Participants. Cell Rep. 2017;21(3):813-22.

316. Baxter AE, Niessl J, Fromentin R, Richard J, Porichis F, Charlebois R, et al. Single-Cell Characterization of Viral Translation-Competent Reservoirs in HIV-Infected Individuals. Cell Host Microbe. 2016;20(3):368-80.

317. Jenabian MA, El-Far M, Vyboh K, Kema I, Costiniuk CT, Thomas R, et al. Immunosuppressive Tryptophan Catabolism and Gut Mucosal Dysfunction Following Early HIV Infection. J Infect Dis. 2015;212(3):355-66.

318. Jenabian MA, Seddiki N, Yatim A, Carriere M, Hulin A, Younas M, et al. Regulatory T cells negatively affect IL-2 production of effector T cells through CD39/adenosine pathway in HIV infection. PLoS Pathog. 2013;9(4):e1003319.

319. El-Far M, Ancuta P, Routy JP, Zhang Y, Bakeman W, Bordi R, et al. Nef promotes evasion of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected cells from the CTLA-4-mediated inhibition of T-cell activation. The Journal of general virology. 2015;96(Pt 6):1463-77.

320. Pham TN, Lukhele S, Hajjar F, Routy JP, Cohen EA. HIV Nef and Vpu protect HIV-infected CD4+ T cells from antibody-mediated cell lysis through down-modulation of CD4 and BST2. Retrovirology. 2014;11:15.

321. Wightman F, Solomon A, Khoury G, Green JA, Gray L, Gorry PR, et al. Both CD31(+) and CD31(-) naive CD4(+) T cells are persistent HIV type 1-infected reservoirs in individuals receiving antiretroviral therapy. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2010;202(11):1738-48.

322. Carriere M, Lacabaratz C, Kok A, Benne C, Jenabian MA, Casartelli N, et al. HIV "elite controllers" are characterized by a high frequency of memory CD8+ CD73+ T cells involved in the antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell response. J Infect Dis. 2014;209(9):1321-30.

323. Afonina IS, Cullen SP, Martin SJ. Cytotoxic and non-cytotoxic roles of the CTL/NK protease granzyme B. Immunol Rev. 2010;235(1):105-16.

324. Ho YC, Shan L, Hosmane NN, Wang J, Laskey SB, Rosenbloom DI, et al. Replicationcompetent noninduced proviruses in the latent reservoir increase barrier to HIV-1 cure. Cell. 2013;155(3):540-51.

325. Kiselinova M, De Spiegelaere W, Buzon MJ, Malatinkova E, Lichterfeld M, Vandekerckhove L. Integrated and Total HIV-1 DNA Predict Ex Vivo Viral Outgrowth. PLoS Pathog. 2016;12(3):e1005472.

326. International ASSWGoHIVC, Deeks SG, Autran B, Berkhout B, Benkirane M, Cairns S, et al. Towards an HIV cure: a global scientific strategy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(8):607-14.

327. Estes JD, Kityo C, Ssali F, Swainson L, Makamdop KN, Del Prete GQ, et al. Defining totalbody AIDS-virus burden with implications for curative strategies. Nat Med. 2017;23(11):1271-6.

328. Kohlmeier JE, Cookenham T, Miller SC, Roberts AD, Christensen JP, Thomsen AR, et al. CXCR3 directs antigen-specific effector CD4+ T cell migration to the lung during parainfluenza virus infection. J Immunol. 2009;183(7):4378-84.

329. Moyron-Quiroz JE, Rangel-Moreno J, Kusser K, Hartson L, Sprague F, Goodrich S, et al. Role of inducible bronchus associated lymphoid tissue (iBALT) in respiratory immunity. Nat Med. 2004;10(9):927-34.

330. Yukl SA, Shergill AK, Ho T, Killian M, Girling V, Epling L, et al. The distribution of HIV DNA and RNA in cell subsets differs in gut and blood of HIV-positive patients on ART: implications for viral persistence. J Infect Dis. 2013;208(8):1212-20.

331. Hatano H. Immune activation and HIV persistence: considerations for novel therapeutic interventions. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2013;8(3):211-6.

332. Adnot S, Amsellem V, Boyer L, Marcos E, Saker M, Houssaini A, et al. Telomere Dysfunction and Cell Senescence in Chronic Lung Diseases: Therapeutic Potential. Pharmacol Ther. 2015;153:125-34.

333. Stieh DJ, Matias E, Xu H, Fought AJ, Blanchard JL, Marx PA, et al. Th17 Cells Are Preferentially Infected Very Early after Vaginal Transmission of SIV in Macaques. Cell Host Microbe. 2016;19(4):529-40.

334. Brenchley JM, Paiardini M, Knox KS, Asher AI, Cervasi B, Asher TE, et al. Differential Th17 CD4 T-cell depletion in pathogenic and nonpathogenic lentiviral infections. Blood. 2008;112(7):2826-35.

335. Jenabian MA, Ancuta P, Gilmore N, Routy JP. Regulatory T cells in HIV infection: can immunotherapy regulate the regulator? Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:908314.

336. Nikolova M, Carriere M, Jenabian MA, Limou S, Younas M, Kok A, et al. CD39/adenosine pathway is involved in AIDS progression. PLoS Pathog. 2011;7(7):e1002110.

337. Priatel JJ, Utting O, Teh HS. TCR/self-antigen interactions drive double-negative T cell peripheral expansion and differentiation into suppressor cells. Journal of immunology. 2001;167(11):6188-94.